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IDA Insurance Limited

Directors’ Report
Faor the Year Ended 31 Decembear 2023

The Dhrectors present the annual report and the audited financial statements of [DA
Insurance Limited (the “Company™) for the financial period from 1 January 2023 to
31 December 2023,

Principal aetivities

The Company’s principal activity is to underwrite scuba diving risks for the leisure
diving industry. The Company offers accident, lihility, and legal defence policies to
clients through its online portal. Tt was registered on 8 July 2005 and licensed to act as &
gencral business insurer on 24 October 2007,

Review of Busines

Effective 1 January 2023, IFRS 17 replaced IFRE 4 Insurance Contracts for annual
periods on or afler | January 2023. As a result, the Company has restated comparative
information for 2021 and 2022 by applying the transitional provisiens in Appendix C to
IFRS 17, The adoption of [FRS 17 did not change the classification of the Company’s

InSUraRce comtracks.

The Compary has applied the premium allocation approsch (PAA) 10 all the insurance
confracts that it issues and reinsurance contracts that it holds, given that the Company
issues insurance contracts, which have a confract boundary of not more than 12 months,
and for those contracts which have a contract boundary of more than 12 months, the
Company has demonstrated that the value of the liability for remaining coverage under
the PAA approach does not differ materially when this is valued under the General
Measurement Madel.

During the year under review from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023, the Company
registered a profit before tax of EUR1, 149,386 (restated 2022: loss of EURS04,578). The
main factors behind this profit is due to lower claims incurred during the current year
when compared to the prior year, Furthermore, the company has generated a positive
investment return on from {18 investments as a result of the recovery that global markets
experienced in 2023 following the turmoil that took place in 2022 as a result of the
increase in inflation and the ongoing geopolitical situation in Eastern Europe caused by
the Russian invesion in Ukraine, which had negatively contributed to the total
comprehensive loss in the prior year.

Insurance Rewvenue recognized by the Company amounted o ELURG, 448,498 (restated
2022: EURG, 485,327}, whilst Insurance Service Expense incurred for the year amounted
to EUR4,832,671 (restated 2022: EURS5479,943). The Company has recorded net
insurance finance expense amounting to EURT4,612 (restated 2022: EURZES,690).




IDA Insurance Limited

Directors’ Report (continued)
For the Year Ended 31 December 2023

Review of Business (confinued)
During the year, the Company has generated net investment income amounting to
EUR124.842, {restated 2022: loss of EUR 159,212},

The Sharcholders' Funds of the Company stood at EURG 357,257 (restated 2022:
EURS,053,640),

The Company monitors its capital level on & regular basis, The Company complied with
the capital requirements during the vears ended 2023 and 2022, Mo changes were made
in the Company’s approach to capital management during the vear ended 31 December
2023,

Going forward, the Company is expected to continue meeting the Solvency 11 regulatory
capital requirements based on the latest unaudited Solvency Capital Requirement (SCR)
calculations a5 at 3| December 2023 and those resulting from the 2023 Own Risk and
Solvency Assessment,

Resuli and dividends

The result for the year ended 31 December 2023 is shown in the Statement of Profit or
Loss and Other Comprehensive Income on page 7. The Company did not pay an interim
dividend during the financial years ended 2023 and 2022. The Dircctors do not
recommend the payment of a final dividend.

Lroing Concern

The directors have assessed all available information pertaining to the future o enswre
that the Company will have sufficient liquidity to continue to meet its obligations as they
fall due.

The Board has considered the Company's operational performance and position as at
year end, as well as business plans for the upcoming years. In line with this, the Board
has a reasoneble expectation that the Company has adequate resources to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, in preparing the
financial statements, the Board continues to adopt the going concern basis,

Events after the reporting period

Subsequent to year end, & capital contribution of €325000 was injected into the
Company in order to continue strengthening the net asset position of the Company and
its Solvency Position.




IDA Insurance Limited

Directors’ Report (continued)
Far b Year Ended 31 Decambar 2023

Compliance

The Booard is committed to ensuring that the Company has robust governince and
compliance arrangements in place. The Board regularly reviews its policies and risk
management framework which, in conjunction with its parent company, continually
develops the Own Risk and Solvency Assessment (ORSA).

Principal risks and uncertnintics

The Company maintains a robust system of governance which is commensurate to the
nature, scale and complexity of the Company’s activities and its risk profile. The
mainstay of the system of govemance is the risk management system, which is designed
to ensure that all the material risks are identified, managed and mitigated.

The Company’s main risk is in respect of the business of writing insurance as this is the
principal activity, The risk under any one insurance contract is the possibility that the
insured event occurs and the uncertainty of the amount of the resulting claim. By the
very nature of an insurance contract, such risk is random, unknown and unpredicrable,
Other risks relate to credit osk, currency risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk and price
risk and default risk.

The Company’s main risks are further diselosed in Mote 6 to the notes to these financial
statements dealing with insurance and financial risk management,

Directors

The Directors whe served during the period wers:

Dr. Ramiro Cali-Corleo

Cir, Alessandro Marroni

M=, Filomena D Angelis

bz, Lavwra Marroni

br. Ray Mercieca

Mr. Jaspal Singh Kainth

Dr. Matthew Bianchi (resigned on |5 January 2023

Mr. Laurent Edgar Comis Ronchin (appointed on 2 February 2024)

In aecordance with the Company's articles of association, all the Directors are to remain
in office until such time they resign or are otherwise removed,




IDA Insurance Limited

Directors’ Report (continued)
For the Year Ended 31 Decamber 2023

Statement of Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Stntements
The Directors are reguised by the Mallese Companies Act (Cap. 336) and the [nsurarice
Business At {Capdl3) to prepare finansil stilements in necordance with Intermational
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs") as adopted by the EU, which give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company ot the end of cach francial year and of
the profit or loss for the year then ended In preparing the finoneial siatements, the
Dhrectors are eesponathle po:
* select suilable ncoounting policies and apply them consistently;
s make judgomentz and estimales thol are reasonable; and
s prepare the financiol statements on & going concern basis, unless it is
mAppropeiste to prezume that the Company will continue in business as a going
COMicETm

The Direciors are responsible for ensuring that proper accounting records are kept which
disclose wilh reasonable accuracy el any time the financial pesition of the Company and
which enable the Directors to ensure (hat the financial staiements comply with the
Maltese Componies Act (Cap. 386) and ihe surance Business Act (Cap. 403). Thiz
responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining such intemal control as
the Direstors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of fnancial statements tha
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or emor, The Directors are
also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company, and hence for wking
reazonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities,

In addition, the Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Company complies at all
times with all the relevant provisions of the Insurance Buginess Act {Cap. 403).

Auclitors

The auditors, Deloitte Audit Limited have expressed their willingness to continue in
office and 8 resolution for their re-appoinoment will be proposed a1 the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting.

Approved by the Board of Drirectors and signed oo its beball on 7 May 2024 by

i = Ll EL

Dr. Rawiire Cali=-Carlen Mr. Raypmond Mercicea
Mangging recior Direcior




IDA Insurance Limited

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive

Income
For the Year Ended 31 Dacember 2023

Insurancs revenus

Imsurance service expenses

Tdet expenses from reinsurance coniracis held
Insurance service result

[mwestment incodae / (expense)

Met investment inceme ¢ (expense)

Finance expenses from insurance contracls
issued

Finance income from rednsurance conbracts
hzld

Melinsurance finance expenses

Met insurance and investment result
Impﬂimmm 32 on myvestment in auh;idinr'rv
Prafit / ( Loss) hefore income tax

Income lax expense

Profie f { Logs) for the year

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss:

Fair value gainXloss) on investments in debt

inafruments measured at FYTOCT

Total comprehensive income ¢ (loss) for the
year nttributable to ordinary shareholders

10

10

%

L3

2023 2012

EUR EUR

G448 490 6,285 327
(4,832,671) (5,479,943
(148,307) (1,062,060)
_L.367,520 {36,676)
124,842 {159,212)
124,841 {159,217)
(77,082) (337,603)
2470 48,913
(74,612) (288 600
1,417,750 (504,578)
(168, 164) .
1,149,586 {504,578)
{1,359} {1.621)
1,148,227 {304,199}
155,390 {479.203)
1,303,617 (985402

The marerial aceownring policies and explanatory Rotes on pages 11 fo 83 form an

{rvegral part af the financial statemends,




IDA Insurance Limited

Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2023

Motes 2023 gaz 2021
{restaled} [restared)
ELUR ELIR ELR
Anseds
Rl.gh.tanF-uﬁg-a-:scl; 13 - 535405 -
Inwestment in subsdiary 1 31,836 1,000, 000 1,000,000
Deferred 1ax assel m 370, 0 170,000 F0.000
Imvestients in Fnaneiz] assats I 1,053,097 1,056,084 i, 250 T2
Femsuerancs contracl asssis 1 I, 605 GED 1.63G,050 2,854,195
Aconeed inberest receivoble 20,035 2d, 179 124
Loans and roccivables . - 0 G0
Relaisd party receivables & £ bl Bk 3390,177 TR 51R
Cash and cash equivalents ) 3,932 1 1,347,756 1,158.525
Total Assets 12,004,832 12,459 750 13,224,380
Expumity amnd Wabilities
Share capical 22 5,850,000 3530, (0 5830000
Capital coalribution 2 550,000 550,004 550,000
Revaliaiien reserve 12 (326 EHE) (282078 (2ET5)
Remmimed  exmmings  {Accumubaied b IR1 g (204,283} {335, 083)
losses)
Total Eguity B 6,357,257 5,085,640 0,039,042
Liabilities
Ipsursnce contmact liabilitiag 3 6, 508 564 5,334 52| of ROR, 5D
Premivm paid in advance LZ9, 0 1 8 T054,701
Leass liability 15 - 556,884 -
Bank overdraft i7 - 182497 40T 451
Taxation . | 13056 115036
Toul Linbilities 6,637,575 T40G,110 7,185,338
Total Equity and Liabilities 12,994,812 12,450,750 13,224,380

The financizl statements on pages 7 to B3 were approved by the Board of Directors, suthorised Fos
issmie on 7 May 2024 and sgned on ks behalf by:

o

Dy Remire Cali-Corlen Mr. Raypmond Mercieca
Muanaging Director Director
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IDA Insurance Limited

Statement of Cash Flows
Far the Year Ended 31 December 2023

Cazh fows fromoused in) operating activities
Profit / (Loss) before fax

Adjusiments for

Mt investment income

Finaroe bease expense

Depreciation of right-of-use osset

[mpaimment (058 on investment in subsidiany
Expected credit losses

Recopnition | {release) of discounting of recevable

Operating peofit / (loss) befove working capital

Movements in:

Related party receivabies
Reinsurance contract assets
[naurance eaniract Habilities
Premium paid in advance
Poyment of e

Cash floaws penerated from eperations
[neome taxes paid

Nt cash Mlvvws gerermied ram aperating astivifes

Cash Mlows genernted from [ {used in) imvesting activities

Meg movement in financial asseis
Met invesiment income § (expense|

et cask Tows gemerated fram et ing acitvities
Mt moverment In cash amd caxsb equivakents
Casl and ensh equivalemis ol

the beginnimp of the year

Cagh and eash equivalemis af
the end of the year (Mate 17}

The marerial accounting policies and explanatory notes on pages 11 fo 83 form an infegral

part of the financial statemerts

2023
EUR

1,049 586

(124,542}

268,164
12,557
{46.011)

1,25% 454

410,345
(62,593)
274,043
11,859
(11,389}

1,672,199
(116,395)

1,755,504

190,957
119,986

10,943

L6 84T

1,.BGE.250

131, 106

oz
EUR

(304578
140,212
4,198
77.887

10458
64, 1655

{188.628)

{35060}
1,318.134
1,626,371

(93734

{52,300}

115,264
(1621}

5643

341,513

(150960}

190,344

Gld, IET

R R

1,365,250

10



IDA Insurance Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2023

Statement of compliance

1D Insurance Limited {the “Company™) is a limited liability eompiny incorporated
end domiciled in Malta with registration number C36602. The Company was
incorporated on B July 2005, The registered office of the Company is DAN
Building, Sir Ugo Mifsud Street, Malta. The Company's principal activity is to
underwrite scuba diving risks for the letsure diving industry. The Company offers
sccident, liability and legal defence policies to clients through its online portal.

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared and presented in
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act (Cap, 386), which requires
adherence to International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the
EU and their interpretations adopied by the International Accounting Standards
Board (TASE], and the provisions of the [nsurance Business Act (Cap. 403},

Basis of preparation
Statement of complinnce

The financial statements are presented in Euwro, which currency is the functional
currency of the Company. Assets and liabilities are measured at historical cost
except for the investrent in financial assets which are measured at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs as adopted by the
EU requirgs the uwse of cerain critical accounting estimates, It also requires
management {0 exercise s judgement in the process of applying the Company’s
accounting policies. The arcas involving a higher degree of judgement or
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial
statements are disclosed in Nate 5.

The statement of financial position is organised in increasing order of liquidity, with
additional disclosures on the current or non-gurrent naturg of the Company’s assefs
and liabilities provided within the Motes to the Financial Statements.

The Company is nof required o draw up consolidated financial statements since it
has taken advantage of Article 174 of the Companics Act, 1995 (Chapter 386, Laws
of Malta) on the grounds that it is included in the accounts of a larger group.
Accordingly, these separate financial statements present information about the
Company as an individual undertaking and mot its group,

The financial statements have béen prepared on a going concern basis. The material
accounting policies adopted are set oul below,

11



IDA Insurance Limited

MNotes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2023

23

Basis of preparation (continued)
Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of accounting policies and the reporied amounts of assets and labilities,
income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estirmates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions
1o accounting estimates are recognised in the year in which the estimates are revised
and in any future years affecied.

Information about sighificant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements
in gpplying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statéments are described in Note 5.

Standards, inferpretations and amendments to published standards as
endorsed by the European Union effective in the current year

Several other new standards, amendment and interpretations to existing standards
apply for the first time in the current financial period, whose edoption to the
requirements of IFRSs as adopted by the EU did not result in substantial changes to
the Company’s accounting policies and did not impact the financial statements
except for IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 discussed in Note 3.

Seandards, interprefations and amendments fo publiched standards that are not vel
effective;

There are no new or amended standards and interpretations, which are not yet
effective as of the balance sheet date that may have significant impact on the
Company®s financial statements.

Changes in material accounting policies

In 2023, the Company adopted new standards. emendments and interpretations to
existing standards that are mandatory for the Company’s accounting period
beginning on | January 2023, The Company has spplied [FRS 17 and IFRS 9 for the
first time. The adoption of other revisions to the requirements of [FRSs as adopted
by the EU did not result in substantial changes 1o the Company”s accounting policies
and financial statements.

12



IDA Insurance Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
Far the Year Ended 31 December 2023

Changes in material accounting policies (continued)
IFKRS 17 Insurance confracts

IFES 17 replaces [FRS 4 Insurance Contracts for annual periods on or alter 1 January
2023, The Company has restated comparative information for 2022 applving the
transitional provisions in Appendix C wo IFRS 17. The nature of the changes in
accounting policies can be summarised, as follows:

3.1.1 Changes to classification and measurement

The adoption of IFRS 17 did not change the classification of the Company's insurance
ConEracts.

The Company was previously permitied under IFRS 4 1o continue accouwnting using its
previous accounting policies. However, IFRS 17 establishes specific principles for the
recognition and measurement of insurance coniracts issued and reinsurance contracts
held by the Company.

Under IFES 17, the Company’s insurance contracts issued and reinsurance contracts
held are all eligible to be measured by applying the Premium Allocation Approach
{PAA), The PAA simplifies the measurement of Insurance conlracls in comparison
with the general model in TFRS 17,

The measurement principles of the PAA differ from the ‘earned premium approach’

usﬂ.‘] by the Company under [FRS 4 in the (ollowing Key areas:;

The liability for remaining coverage reflects premiums received less deferred
insurance acquisition cash flows and less amounts recognised in revenue for
insurance services provided.

- Weasuremeni of the liability for remaining coverage includes an adjustment for the
time value of money and the effect of financial risk where the premium due date and
the refated period of services are more than 12 months apart,

«  Measurement of the liability for remaining coverage involves an explicit evaluation
of risk adjustment for non-financial risk when 8 group of contracts s onerous in
order to calculate a boss component (previously these may have formed part of the
unexpirad risk reserve provision)

- Measurement of the asset for rémaining coverage (reflecting reinsurance premiums
paid for reinsurance held) is adjusted to include a loss-recovery component to reflact
the expected recovery of onerous contreci losses where such contracis relnsire
onerous direct contracts.

13



IDA Insurance Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 Decembar 2023

3.1
LR

Changes in material acconnting policies (continued)
IFRE 17 Insurance contracts (continmed )
Changes to classifiention and measurement (continued)

Measurament of the liability for incurred claims (previously claims outstanding and
claims incurrad but not reported reserves (IBMR)) is determined on a discounted
probability-weighted expected value basis, and includes an explicit risk adjustment
for non-financial risk. The liability includes the Company’s obligation to pay other
incurred INSUrance eXpenses,

The Company capitalises insurance acquisition cash fows for all product lines, The
Company allocates the acquisition cash flows to groups of insurance contracts issued
or expected to be issued using a systematic and rational basis. Insurance acquisition
cash flows include those thet are directly attibutable to a group and to future groups
that are expected to arise from renewals of contracts in that group. Where such
insurance acquisition cash flows are paid (or where a liability has been recognised
applying ancther IFRS standard) before the related group of insurance contracts is
recognised, an asset for insurance acquisition eash flows 35 recopnized. When
insurance contracis are recognised, the relaed portion of the assel for insurance
acquisition cash flows is derecognized and subsumed into the measurement af initial
recognition of the insurance liability for remaining coverage of the related group.

The Company”s classification and measurement of insurance end reinsurence confracts
is explained in Mode 4.2,

« Changes to presentation and disclosure

For presentation in the statement of financial position, the Company aggregates
insurance and reinsurance confracis issuwed and reinsurance contracts held, respectively
and presents separaialy:

Portfolios of insurance and reinsurance contracts issued that are assats;

Portfolios of insurance and reinsurance contracts issuad that are liabilities;

Portfolios of reinsurance contracts beld thal are assets;

Portfolios of reinsurance contracts held that are liakilities.

The portfolios referred to above are those established at initial recognition in
accovdance with the IFRS 17 requiremeants.

Portfolios of insurance confracts issued include any asseds for insurance acgquisition
cash flows,

14



IDA Insurance Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 Decamsar 2023

3. Changes in material accounting policies (continued)
3.1 1FRS I7 Insurance contracts {continwed)
3.1.2. Changes to presentation and disclosure (continued)

The line item descriptions in the statement of profit or losz and other comprehensive
income have been changed sipnificantly compared with last vear. Previously, the
L'“mnpnny reparted the following line items:
Gross writhen premiums
- Met written PFEI'I'Hlul‘I.'I:'IE-
- Changes in prémium réserves
- {Gross insurance claims
- Mat inzurance claims

Instead, IFRS 17 requires separate presentation off
[nsurance revenue
Insurance service expenses
Insurance finance income or expenses
Income or expenses from reinsurance condracts held

3.1.3 Transition

The Company applied a full retrospective approach for transition to IFRS 17. On
transation date, | January 2022, the Company:
Has IdEhtlr&li recognised and measured each group of insurance contracts as if
[FES 17 had always applizd;
Has identified, recognised and measured assets for insurance acquisition cash flows
as if IFRS 17 has always applied. However, no recoverability assessment was
performed before the transition date. At transition date, a recoverability assessment
was performed, and no impairment loss was identified;
Derecognised any existing balances that would not exist had IFRS 17 always
applied;
= Recognised any resulting net differense in equity as part of the retained earnings.

15



IDA Insurance Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 Decamber 2023

3.1

Changes in material accounting policies (continued)
IFRS 9 Financial Instrumenis

The Company has also sdopted 1FRS 9 from 1 January 2023 and comparatives have
been refrospectively restated.

IFRS @ replaces IFRS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and
is effective for annual periods beginning on or after | fanuary 2018, with early
adoption permivied. [FRS 9 incorporaies new classification and measurement
requiremeants for financial assats, introduces a new expecied credit loss impairment
model to replace the [AS 39 incurred foss model and new hedge accounting
requirements. The Company had previously deferred the application of IFRS 9 o
align with the implementation of IFRS 17,

IFRES 9 also significantly amends other standards dealing with financial instrumenis
such as IFRS 7 'Financial Instruments: Disclosures’. Conseguently, for notes
disclosures, the consequential amendments to IFRS T have also only been applied.

The adoption of [FRS 9 haz resufted in changes in the accounting policies for
classification and messurement of financial assets and financial liabilies and
impairment of financial assets,

Set out below are disclosures relating to the impact of the adoption of IFRES 9 on the
Company. The relevant changes in the estimation techniques or significant
asgumptions made during the reporting period as a result of the adoption of IFRS 9
are described in the material accounting policies and in the remaining nofes to the
fimaseial statements,

IFRS 9 inclades three principal classification categories for financial assets:
measured a1 amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income
(FVTOCI) and fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). IFRS 9 eliminates the
existing 1A8 39 categories of held to maturity, loans and receivables and available
for sale.

The rabde below illustrates the classification and measurement of financial assets and
liabilities under IFES 9 and 1AS 39 as at the transition date of | January 2022

16



IDA Insurance Limited

MNotes to the Financial Statements
Faor the Year Ended 31 Decamber 2023

- &
3.1

Changes in material accounting policies (continued)

IFRS 2 Financial Instruments (continued)

3.2.1 Changes to classification and measurement

hriginal Mew Origimal
NEEESWrEnmeEni mEas U rement earrying Mew  carrying
talbegory calypery amount mpiler  gmownt  wnder
under [AE 39 under IFHS 9 IAS 30 IFRs 9
ELR ElLIR
[nvestments in Availoble for sale. Finnnelal assels ¢
finamcial nessts FWTPEL 430064
Financial asseis at
FYOCT 4.269.712 3,830,658
Rednsorapee conimel  Laang ssd Fimancinl asseis at
5501 recsivabils amanised oo 1054.195 2,054,195
Louns and Loans and Finameial nsses at
_receivables mpcEivables amoniized cos G0 G, (430
Relagd party Loans and Financial assets al
receivalles reczivables i e st £,681.750 3 639.518
Cash and cash Lone and Financial psgeis m
ciuivaks receivibles asnoetived cost 1, 3158.523 1,358,523
O¢ther payables
(imcluding hank Fennncial labilsnies
pvendralt md Financial lishilities  messured at
laxadion) at amariEad e amuwriised cosi 2T AET S2L4RT

The Company's accounting policies for its financial instruments are disclosed in

detail im Mote 4.3,

3.2.2. Impaet of transition on equity

The cumulative effect of initially epplying IFRS 9 on 1 January 2022, amounts to &
decrease of EUR24,116 In retained camings (accumulated losses) and a decrease of
EURZE.102 in the revaluation reserve and is presented in the statement of changes

in oquity.
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IDA Insurance Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 Daecamber 2023

4.1

4.2

Material accountfing policy information

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods
presented in these financial statements,

Classification of insurance und reinsarance contracts

The Company issues insurance contracts in the normal course of business, under
which it accepts significant insurance risk fram its policyholders. Tnsurance contracts
are those contracts under which the Campany accepts significant insurance risk from
another party by agreeing to compensate the polieybolder or ather beneficiary if a
specified uncertain future event adversely affects the policyholder or other
benefiziary.

Az a general puideline, the Company determines whether it has significant
insurance rizk, by comparing benefits pavable after en insured event with benefits
pavable if the insured eévenl did not oceur. Insurance confracts can also transfer
financial risk.

The Company undertakes the following risks accident, general liability, legal
expenses and assistance though different polices sold w individual divers or diving
clubs. The Company's insurance policies are issued in the European Union bul
provide insurance benefits to stedents, recreational and professional divers,
membars of DAN Europe Foundation, when diving amywheres i the world. The
Company does not issue any contracts with direct participating features.

In the normal course of business, the Company uses reinsurance to mitigate its risk
exposures. A reinsurance comtract transfers significant risk if it transfers
substantially all of the insurance risk resulting from the insured portion of the
underlying insurance contracts, even if it does not expose the reinsurer to the
possibility of a significant lozs.

Within these financial statements, insurance and reinsurance contracts issued by the
Company are referred 0 a5 “insurance confracts’, whereas reinsurance and
retrocession contracts held are referred to as *reinsurance contracts”™.

Insuranee and reinsurance contracts accounting treatment

4.2.1 Separating components from insurance and reinsurance contracis

The Company assesses 11s insurance and reinsurance products 1o determine whether
they contain distinet components which must be accounted for under another [FRS
instead of under IFRS 17, Affer separating any distinct components, the Company
applies TFRS 17 io all remaining components of the (host) insurance contract.
Currently, the Company’s products do not include any distinct components that

réguire Separation.
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IDA Insurance Limited

MNotes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 Dacember 2023

4,
4.2

Material accounting policy information {confinued)

Insurance and reinsurance contracts sccounting trenfment {confinmed)

4.2.1 Separating components from insurance and reinsurance contracts (continued )

4.1.2

Some refnsurance contracts issued contain profit commission arrangements. Under
these arrangements, there (£ a minimum guaranteed amount that the fronting partner
{cedant} will always recsive — either in the form of profit commission, or another
contractual payment irrespective of the insured event happening.

The minimum guaranieed amounts have been assessed (o be highly interrelated with
the insurance component of the reinsurance contaciz and are, therefore, non-distinet
imvestment components which are not sceounted Tor separately.

Level of agpregation

IFES 17 requires a company to determine the level of aggregation for applying its
requirements. The level of apgregation for the Company is determined firstly by
dividing the business written into portfolios. Portfolios comprize groups of contracts
with similar risks which are managed fogether, The Company manages insurance
and reinsurance contracts issued by produst lines within a portfolio, where each
product line includes coniracts thal are subject fo similar nsks. All insurance
contracts within a product ling represent a porifolio of contracts. Portfolios are
further divided based on expected profitability af inception into three catepories:
onersus contracts, confracts with no significant risk of becoming onerous, and the
remainder. This means that, for determining the level of apgregation, the Company
identifies & contract as the smallest “unit’, ie., the lowest common denominator.
However, the Company makes an evaluation of whether a series of confracis need fo
be treated together as one unit based on reasonable and supportable information, or
whether a single contract containg componants that need to be separated and treated
as if they were stand-alone confracts. As such, what is treated as a contract For
accounting purpeses may differ from what is considered a5 3 contract for other
purposes (ie, legal or management). IFRS 17 also requires that no group for level
of aggregation purposss may contain contracts isswed more than one year apart
Suth groups are not subsequently reconsidered.

The profitabality of groups of contracts s assessed by analysing historical
information with the assistance of the actuarial funciion, The Company assumes that
no coatracts in the portfolio are onerous af imitial recognition unless facts and
circumsiances indicate otherwise. For confracts that are not onsrous, the Company
assesses, al initial recognition, that there is no significant possibility of becoming
onerons subsequently by assessing the likelihood of changes in applicable facts and
¢ircumstances.
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IDA Insurance Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2003

4.2
d.2.2

41.3.

Material scesunting policy information {continwed)
Insurance and reinsuranee contracts accounting treatment (continoed)

Level of aggregation {continued}

The Company considers facts and circumstances o identify whether o group of
cORMtracts are onenous based on:

Pricing information
- Results of similar confracts it has recognised

The Company divides portfolios of reinsurance contracts held applying the same
principles set out above, except that the references to onerous contracts refer to
contracis on which there is a nef gain on inifial recopnition. For some groups of
reinsurance confracts held, a group can comprise a single contract.

Hecopnifion

The Company recognises groups of insurance and reinsurance contracts it issues

from the earliest of the following:

- The heginning of the coverage period of the group of contracts;

« The date when the first payment from a policyholder in the group is due or when
the first payment 15 received if there is no due date;

- For a group of onerous contracts, if facts and circumstances indicate that the
Broup is onerous.

The Company recopnises a group of reinsurance confracts held it has entered into

Froum the eadier of the following:

- The beginning of the coverage period of the group of reinsurance contracts held.
{However, the Company delays the recognition of 4 group of reinsurance
contracts held that provide proportionate coverage wntil the date any underlyving
insurance contract iz initially recognised, iT that date is later than the beginning of
the coverage period of the group of reinsurance contracts held; and
The date the Company recognises an oncrous group of underlying insurance
contracts if the Company entered into the related reinsurance contract held in the
Eroup of reinsurance contracts held at or before that date,

The Company adds new contracts to the group in the reporting peniod in which that
confract mests one of the criteria st out above,
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IDA Insurance Limited

MNotes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2023

4.1
4.2.4.

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Insurance pnd reinsurance copfracts accounting treatment (continoed)

Contract boundary

The Company includes in the measurement of a group of insurance contracts all the
future cash flows within the boundary of each contract in the group. Cash flows are
within the boundary of an insurance contract if they arise from substantive rights
and obligations that exist during the reporting period in which the Company can
compel the policvholder o pay the premiums, or in which the Company has o
substantive obligation to provide the policvholder with msurance contract services.

A substantive obligation to provide insurance contract services ends when:
The Company has the practical ability to reassess the risks of the particular
policyhalder and, as a result, can set a price or level of benefits that fully reflects
thiose risks; or

- Baoth of the following eriteria are satisfied:

o The Company hes the practical ability to reassess the risks of the
portfolio of insurance contracts that contzin the conteact and, 25 a result,
can set a price or level of benefits that fully reflects the rigk of that
portfolio;

o The pricing of the premiums up to the date when the risks are
reassessed does not take into sccount the risks thal relate o périods
after the reagsessment date,

A liability or azzet relating o expected premiums or claims outside the boundary of

the insurance coniract is not recognised. Such amounts relate to future insurance
COMracis,

In assessing the prectical abiiity to reprice, risks transferved from the policyholder to
the Company, such as insorance risk and financial risk, are considered: other risks
such as lapse risk are not included.

21
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 Decamber 2023

4, Material accounting policy information (confinmed)

4.2 Insurance and reinsurance contracts accounting treatment (continued)

4,2.5. Measurement - Fremium Allocation Approach (continoed)

Oiptions allowed sader [FRS 17

Approach ll;l-npﬂd by the
Company

PAA Eligibility

Subject 1o specified eritenia the PAA @n be
afopted as & simplified approach o 1he IFRS
17 geneml moded,

Coatrzst  boundary  for  the
insrance  inwards  business s
considered o ba one year or less
and 40 qualifies mrvanaticalty far
PAA, Om the pdher hand, the
reinsurance  oulwands  conlracts
are desmed 10 have a conbraecd
boimdary af mare than 2
meomths, However, the Company
has desermined thal there 15 ma
mpterinl  diffesence in the
measurement of the |kahtliy for
remaining  coverge  beiween
PaA and the pencral model,
therefore, these gualify far PAA

Insuramos acquisition
wsh - Bows fw
inguranes  Gonlnets
1 sl

Where the coversge perod of all contracis
within @ group is oot longer than ane yeor,
irdurancs poguisition cagh fows can either
be expensed as ncurred, o allocated, psing o
systematic ard ratlomal methed, o groups of
irsarance contrmcis {including Rawre groups
corinining - Insuranct  comtracia  thal  ame
expecled 16 anse from renewsls) and then
amartised over the covernge pericd of the
relabedt  group., For  groups  containing
comimcts Jonger than ope yesr, Insurances
aoquisition cash flows mist be allocated 1o
related grosips of insuronce contracis and
amartised over the covernge pericd of the
relatad proup.

Far all finex of h=ines,
insuranes aequisition cash flows
have been wllocated 1o related
groups of msurancs contracs and
amortized over the  coverage
periodl af the relabsd gromp

Liahalay e
Remalning Coverage,
sdjusted for financial
risk and time value of
My

Where there is oo significant fimancing
compenent In selatlon w ot Labiliy e
remaining coverage, or where the time
begween providing esch part of dhe services
and the related premiom due dale i o moTe
than & year, an entity s mot required o make
an adjustment for accretion of méerest on the

liahility for remaining coverage.

Leabdility foe Incurred
Clams adjusted
time waloe of money

For all fires of business, there is
no albowams: as the premiams
are received within ong year of
thie coverage period.

Where claims ane expectad 1o be paid witkin
a wear of the date that the claim & incuewed, it
12 ot required to adjust these amounts for tbe

time value of money,

For all lines af hoginess, the
LFIC is adjusted for the iime
vitlug of money.

[nguranee finanoee
incmmee and EXpenEs

There is an oplivn 1o disagerepste part af the
movement in liakility. for incurred claims
resubting froms changes in discoumt rafes and
present this in OCT

For all lines of business, the
change in [Eability for inewsred
claims as & result of clangess o
discoum meas will be capiured
within pralil or bass.




IDA Insurance Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 Decembear 2023

4.
4.2

Material accounting poliey information (continued)

Insurance and reinsurance conirocis accounting treatment {continued)

4.2.5. Measurement - Premiom Allocation Approsch {continued)

4.2.5.1. Insurance coniracis — initial measurement

The Company applies the PAA to all the insurance contracts that it issues and

reinsurance contrsels that 11 holds, as;

- The coverage period of each contrect in the group is one year or less, meluding
insurance contract services arising from all premiums within the contract
boundary; of

- For contracts longer than one year, the Company has modelled possible future
scenarios and reazonebly expects that the messurement of the liability for
remaining coverage for the grodp containing those confracts under the PAA does
not differ materially from the measurément that would be produced applying the
genera]l model. In sssessing materality, the Company has also considered
qualitative factors such as the nature of the risk and types of its lines of business,

The Company does not apply the PAA if, at the inception of the group of contracts,

it expects significant variability in the fulfilment cash flows that would affect the

measurement of the lability for the remaining coverage during the period before a

clamm is incurred. Yeriability in the fulfilment cazh flows increases with, for

example:

- The extent of future cash flows related to any denvatives embedded in the
contracts:

» The length of the coverage period of the group of contracis.

For a group of contracts that i3 not ongrous a1 initial recognition, the Company
measures the liability for remaining coverage as:
- The premiums, if any, received at initial n:n:.ﬂg_niﬁm
Mlinus any insurance acquisition cash flows paid,
= Plus or minus any amount arising from the derecognifion at that date of the asset
recognised for insurance acquisition cash flows; and *

Plus or minus any othcr asset or liahility previously recognised for cash flows
related to the growp of contracts that the Company pays or receives before the group
of insirance contracis is recognised (ie, pre-recognition cash flows). For all lines of
business, there is no allowance for time value of money as the premiums are
received within one year of the coverage peried,
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IDA Insurance Limited

MNotes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 371 December 2023

4,

Paterial accounting policy information (continuwed)

42 Imsurapce and reinsorance contracts accounting treatment {continued)

4.2.5. Measurement - Fremium Allocation Approach (continued)

4.2.5.1. Insurance contracts - initial measurement (continued)

Where facts and circumstances Indicate that contracts arc onerous at initial
recognition, the Company performs additional anzlysis to determine if a net cutflow
is expectad from the contract, Such onerous contracts are separately grouped from
other contracts and the Company recognises a loss in profit or loss fir the net
outflow, resulting in the carrying amount of the liability for the group being equal o
the fulfilment cash flows. A loss component is established by the Company for the
liability for remaining coverage for such onerous group depicting the losses
recognised, For additional disclosures on the loss component, please refer 1o MNote
42632

d.2.5.2, Reinsurance contracts held —inftdal measurement

The Company measures its reinsurance assets for a group of reinsurance contracts
that it holds on the same basis s insurance contracts that it issues. However, they
are adapted to reflect the features of reinsurance contracts held that differ from
insurance contrects issued, for example the generation of expenses or reduction in
expenses rather than revenue. Where the Company recognises a loss on initial
recognition of an onerous group of underlying insurance contracts or when furiher
onerous underlying insurance contracts are added 10 a group. the Company
establishes a loss-recovery component of the asset for remaining coverage for o
group of reinsurence contracts held depicting the recovery of losses. The Company
calculates the loss-recovery component by multiplying the loss recognised on the
underlying insurance contracts and the percentage of claims on the underlying
insurance contracts the Company expects to recover from the group of reinsurance
contracts held The Company uses a systematic and rational method to determine
the portion of losses recognised on the group 1o insurance contracts covered by the
group of reinsurance contracts held where some contracts in the underlying group
are nol covered by the group of reinsurance contracts held, The loss-recovery
component adjusts the carmying amount of the asset for remaining coverage.
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IDA Insurance Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2023

4.  Material acconnting policy information (conlinued)
4.2 Insurance and reinsurance contracts accounting treatment (continued)

4,2.5, Measurement - Premiuvm Allocation Approach (continued)

4.1.5.3. Insurance and reinsurance contracts issued — subsequent measurement

The carrying amounts of a group of insurance contracts o reinsurance contracts
issued at the end of each reporting period is the sum of:
a)  The liability for remaining coverage; and
) The liability for incurred claims, comprising the ful filment cash flows related
to past service allocated to the group at the reporting date.

The Company measures the carrying amount of the liability for remaining coverage
at the end of each reporting period as the lisbility for remaining coverage at the
beginning of the period:
- Plus premiums received in the period;
Minus insurance aequisition cush flows paid in the period, with the exception of
propery insurance product line for which the Company chooses to expense
insurance acquisition cash flows as they occur (please see Note 4.2.5.1)
Plus any amounts relating 1o the amorfisation of the insurance acguisition cash
flows recognised as an expanse in the reporting period for the group
Plus any adjustment to the financing component, whers applicable
Minus the amount of expected premium receipts recognised es insurance revenue
for the services provided in the perind

The Company estimates the liability for incurred claims as the fulfilment cash flows
refated to incurred claims. The fulfilment cash flows incorporate, in an unibiased
way, all reasonable and supportable information available without undue cost or
effort about the amount, timing and uncertainty of thoss future cash flows, they
reflect current estimates from the perspective of the Company and include an
explicit adjustment for non-financial risk (the risk adjustment - refer to Note 5.1.4).
The Company does adjust the future cash flows for the time value of money and the
effect of financial risk for the measurement of liahility for incurved claims, given
that such claims are expected o be paid more than one vear after being incurred.
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4,
4.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)

Inzurance and reinsurance contracts aceounting trentment (eontinued)

4.2 5 Measurement - Premiom Allocation Approach {continoed})

4253 Insurance and reinsurance contracts issued — subsegquent measurement
(eontinued)

Where, during the coverage period, facts and circumstances indicate that a group of
insurance confracts is onerous, the Company recognises a loss in profit or loss for the
net outflow,; resulting in the carrving amauni of the Habiliny for the growp being equal
toy the fulfilment cash flows. A loss camponent 15 established by the Company for the
liability for remaining coverage for such onerouws group depicting the losses
recognised. For additional disclosures on the |oss component, plesse refer fo
Note 4,2.6.2. [nsurance acquisition cash flows are allocated on a straight-line basis as
a portion of premium 1o profit or loss (through insurance revenae).

4.2.5.4. Reinsurance contracts held = subsequent mensurement

The subsequent mensurement of reinsurance contracts held follows the same
principles as those for insurance contracts issued and has been adapted to reflect the
specific features of reinsurance held. The Company adjusts the remaining coverage
for reinsurance conteacts held for the effect of the risk of reinsurer’s non-
performance,

When a loss is recognised on initial recognition of an onerous group of underlying
insurance contracts or on addition of onerous underlying insurance contracts 1o that
group, the carrying amouwnt of the asset for remaining coverage for reinsurance
contracts held measursd under the PAA I8 increased by the amount of income
recognised in profit or loss and a loss-recovery component {5 2stablished or adjusted
for the amount of income recognised. The referred income is calcalated by
multiplying the loss recognised on underlying insurance contrscts by the percentage
of claims on underlying insurance contracts that the Company expects fo reécover
fram the reinsurance contract held that are entered into before or at the same time a%
the loss is recognised on the undearlying insurance contracts.

Wihen underlying insurance contracts are included in the same group with insurance
comtracts issued that are not reinsured, the Company applies a svstematic and rational
method of allocation fo determine the portion of losses that relates to underiying
insurance contracts. Where applicable, changes in the loss-recovery componant are
disaggregated between net income from reinsurance contrects held and insurance
finance income or expenses for the effect of the time value of money, financial risk
and effect of changes therein in proportion to the disaggregation applied to the
changes in the underlying s component,
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 21 December 2023

4,
4.2

Material accounting policy information {continued)

Insurnnce and reinsarance contracts accounting treatment (continued)

4.2.5. Measurement - Premium Allocation Approach (continued)
4.2.5.5. Insurance acquisition cash flows

Insurance acquisition cash flows arise from the costs of selling, underwnting and
starting & group of insurance contracts (issued or expected to be issued) that are
directly attributable to the portfolio of insurance contracts to which the group
belongs.

For all lines of business, the Company uses a systematic and rafional method to
allocate:
- Insurance acquisition cash flows that are directly attributable 1o a group of
insurance contracts:
o 1o that group; and
o 1o groups that include insurance contracts that are expected to arise from
the renewals of the insurance contracts in that group.
- Insurance scquisition cash flows directly attributable to a portfolie of insurance
contracts that are not directly attributable to & growp of contracts, 10 groups in the
portfolio.

After any re-allocation, the Company assesses the recoverability of the asset for
insurance acquisition cash flows, if facts and circumstances indicate the asset may
be impaired, When assessing the recoverability, the Company applies:
An impairment test at the level of an existing or future group of insurance
contracts; and
- An additional impairment test specifically covering the insurance acquisition
cash flows allocated to expected future contract rengwals,

If an impairment loss is recognised, the carrying amount of the asset is adjusted and
an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. The Company recognises in profit
or loss a reversal of some or all of an impairment loss previously recognised and
increases the carrying amount of the asset, to the extent that the impairment
conditions no longer exist or have improved.




IDA Insurance Limited

MNotes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 Decembser 2023

4. Material accounting policy information {continued)
4.2  Insurance and reinsurance coniracts sccoanting treatment (continoed)
4.1.5. Measurement - Premium Allocation Approach (continued)

4.1.5.6. Insurance contracts — modification and derecognition

The Company derecognises insurance contracts when:
- The rights and obligations relating to the contract are extinguished (e,
discharged, cancelled or expired); or
The contract is modified and any of the following additional criteria discussed
below are met:
a) ifthe modified terms had been included &t contract inception and the Group
woukd have concluded that the modified contract:
ois not within the scope of [FES 17;
aresults in different separable compoments;
aresulis in & ditferent contract boundary; or
o belongs to a different group of contracts;
b)  the original contract was accounted for under the PAA, but the modification
medns that the contract o longer meets the eligibility criteria for that

approach

When a modification [ mot treated as a derecognition, the Company recognisas
amounts paid or received for the modification with the contract as an adjustment 10
the relevant liability for remaining coverage. When an insurance confract accounted
for under the PAA is derecognised, adjustments to remove related rights and
obligations to account for the effect of the derecognition result in the following
amounts being charged immediately. to profit or loss:
= {f the contract 15 extinpuished, any net difference between the derecagnised part
of the lisbility for remaining coverage of the original contract and any other cash
flows arising from extinguishmant;
if the original confract is modified resulting in s derecognition, any nel
difference between the derecognised part of the lisbility for remaining coverage
and the hypothetical premium that the entity would have charged if it had entered
infer & contract with equivalent ferms as the new contract at the date of the
contract modification, less any additional premium charged for the modification.
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42

4.2.6.

Material accounting policy information {continmed)
Insurance and reinsurance contracts accounting treatment (continued)

Presentation

The Company has presented separately, in the statement of financial position, the
carrying amount of portfolios of ingurance contracts issued that are assats, portfolios
of insurance coniracts issued that are labilities, porifolios of reinsurance confracts
held that are assets and portfolios of reinsurance contracts held that are liabilities.

The Company disaggregates the total amount recognised in the siatement of profit
or loss inte an insurance sarvice result, comprising insurance revenue and insurange
service expense, and insurance finance income or expenses. The Company does not
disaggregate the change in rsk adjustment for non-financial risk between a financial
and non-financial portion and includes the entire change as part of the insurance
service result. The Company separately preésemls incoime of expenses from
reinsurance contracts held from the expenses or income from insurance contracts
issed.

4,2.6.1, Insurance revenua

The insurance revenue for the period is the amount of expected premium receipts
{excluding any investment component) allocated to the period. The Company has
recognised a5 part of its insurance revenue only the premium relating to policies that
were active before 31 December 2023, For those policies, for which the Company
already collected the premium, but which will incept after | January 2024, the value
of those policies have been classified as premium paid in advance in the stalament
of financial position, The Company determines the hasis upon initial recognition of
a group of contracts on the basis of facts and circumstances and the basis is not
subsequently changed for that group. For the periods presented, all revenue has been
recognised on the basis of the passage of time.

4.2.6.2. Loss components

Given that the company measures its contracts in terms of the premium allocation
approach, the Company assumes that no contraets aré onérpus at initial recognition
unless facts and circumstances indicate otherwise. Where this is nat the case, and i
at any time during the coverage period, the facts and circumstances indicate that a
group of insurance contracts is onerous, the Company establishes a loss component
as the excess of the fulfilment cash flows that relate to the remaining coverage of
the group over the carrying amount of the liability for remaining coverage of the
group as determined in Mote 4.2.5.3, Accordingly, by the end of the coverage period
of the group of contracts the loss component will be zera,
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For the Year Ended 31 Dacamber 2023

4.
4.2

Material accounting policy information {continued)

Insurance and reinsurance contracts accouniing treatment {continued)

4.2.6. Presentation {continued)
4.2,6.3, Loss-recovery componenis

As described in Note 4.2.6.2 above, where the Company recognises a loss on initial
recognition of an enerows group of underlying insurance contracts, or when further
onerous underlying insurance comtracts are added to & group, the Company
establishes a loss-recovery component of the asset for remaining coverage for &
group of reinsurance contracts held depicling the expected recovery of the losses.

A loss-recovery component is subsequently reduced 10 2zero in line with reductions
in the onerous group of underlying insurance contracts in order to reflect that the
lnss-recovery component shall not exceed the portion of the carrying amount of the
loss component of the onerous geoup of underlying insurance contracts that the
entity expects to recover from the group of reinsurance contracts held.

4.2.6.4. Insurance service expensc

Insurance service expenses include the following:

- incurred claims and beneflts, excluding investment components redeced by loss
component allocetions;

. other incurred directly attributable expenses, including amounts of ay other pre-
recognition cash flows asseis (other than insurance acquisition cash flows)
derecognised at the date of initial recognition;

- insurence acquisition cash flows amortization;

- changes that relaie to past service — changes in the FCF relating to the L1C; and

- changes that relate to future service — changes in the FCF that result in onerous
contract losses o reversals of those losses; and

- insurance acquisition cash flows assets impairment.

For contracts measured under the PAA, amortisation of insurance acguisition cash
flows is hased on the passage of time, Other expenses nol meeting the above
categories are included as part of other income / expenses in the statement of profit
or loss.
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Motes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 Dacember 2023

4.
4.1
4.1.6.

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Insurance and reinsurance contracts secounting treatment (continued)
Presentation (continued)

4.1.6.5. Inzurance finance income and expense

Insurance finance income or expenses comprise the change in the carrying amount
of the group of insurance contracts arising from:
The effect of the time valug of money and changes in the fime value of money;
and
- The effect of financial risk and changes in financial risk.

For all lines of business, the Company does not disagpregate finance income and
expenses between profit and loss and other comprehensive income because the
related financial assets are managed on a fair value basis and measured at FVPL.

The main amounts within insurance finance income and expenses are interest
accreted on the liability for incurred claims and the effect of changes in inferest
rates and other financial assumptions.

4.2.6.6. MNet income or expense from reinsurance contracts held

The Company presents separately on the face of the stalement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the amounts expected to be recovered from reinsurers,
and an allocation of the reinsurance premiums paid on a net bagis. The Company
treats reinsurance cash flows that are confingent on claims on the underlying
contracts as parl of the claims that are expected to be reimbursed under the
reinsurance confract held, and deducts investment componenis and commissions
which arz not contingent on claims from an allocation of reinsurance préemiums
ceded presented on the face of the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income,
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 Depember 2023

4.3

4.3.1

Materisl accounting policy information {continwed)
Finaneial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Company s statement
of financial position when the company becomes a party o the contraciual
provisions of the mstrument, Financial assels and financial Habilities are mitially
measured al fair valus, excepl for trade receivables that do not hawve o significant
financing component which are measured at transaction price. Transaction costs that
are: directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liakilities {other than financial assets and financial liakilitics at FYTPL) are added to
or deducied from the fair wvalue of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on inifial recogmition, Transaciion costs directly atfribwtable o the
acquisition of financial assets or financial habilives at FYVTPL are recognised
imimediately in profit or loss,

Finamncinl assels

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
zales of financial assets that reguire delivery of assets within the time frame
establisived by regulation or convention in the markeiplace. All recognised financial
assels are measured subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair
value, depending on the classification of the financial assets. The Company has
elected w adopt IFES 9 retrospectively &s from 1 January 2022,

Classification of financial assels

Dbt instruments that meet the ollowing conditions are measured subsequently at

amortised cost;

= The fimancial asset is held within a business model whose objective 15 o hald
financial assels in order 1o collect contractual cash Nows;

« The contrectual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Dbt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at

FVTOCI:

= The financial asset i5 held within a business model whose objective is achieved
bv both collecting contraciual cash flows and selling the financial assets;

- The contraciual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding,
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d,

Material accounting policy information (confinwed)

4.3  Financial instruments (continued)

4.3.1 Financial asscts (continued)

“lassification nancial gs continuecd
By default, all other financial assets are measwed subsequently at FYTPL,

Despite the foregoing, the Company may make the following imevocable election /

designation al inital recognition of 4 financial asset:

= The company may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value
of en equity investment in other comprehensive income i certain criteria are met
(see (iii} below)

- The company may irrevocably designate a debt investmeni that meeis the
amortised cost or FYTOCT criteria as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates
or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch (ses (iv) below).

. Amaortised oost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a debt
instrument and of allocating interest income over the relevant period

For financial azsets other than purchased or onginated credit-impaired financial
assets (ie assets thar are credift-impaired on initial recognition), the effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees and points pod or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, iransaction costs and other premiums or discounts) excluding
expected credit losses, through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carmying amount of the debt instrument on
initial recognition, For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assars, a
credit-adjusted effective interest rate Is calculated by discounting the estimated
fisture cash flows, including expected credit Fosses, 1o the amortised cost of the debt
instrument on initial recognition.

The amortised cost of & financial asset is the emount st which the financizl acset is
measured al initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative
smaortisation wsing the effective interest method of any difference between that
initial amount znd the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance. The gross
carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a financial asset before
adjusting for any loss allowance,
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4,
4.3
4.3.1

Material acconnting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments {continwed)

Financial assets (comtimped)
Classification of (inancial assets (continued)

i. Amortized cost and effective inberest method (continued)

Intersst income s recognised using the effective intereést method for debt
instruments measured subsequently at amortised cost or at FYTOCL For financial
asscts other than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, interest
income is calcelated by applying the effective intgrest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial assel, except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired. For financial assets thet have subsequently become credii-
impaired, interest income s recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset, If, in subsequent reporting periods, the credit
sk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross camying amount of the financial asset,

For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, the company recognises
interest incoime by applying the credit-adjusted effective intersst rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset from mitial recognition. The calculation does
mot revert to the gross basis even if the credit risk of the financial asset subsequently
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, Inderest income is
recognised in profit or loss and is included in the "Investment income / (expense)*
line ftem.

ii. Debt instrumemts classified as at FYTOC)

The corporate bonds held by the company are classified as at FYTOCL The bonds
are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. Subsequently, changes in
the carrying amount of these corporate bonds as a result of foreign exchange gains
and losses (see below), impairment gains or losses (see below), and interest income
calculated using the effective interest method (see (i) above) are recognised in profit
or loss. The amounts that are recognised in profit or loss are the same as the amounts
that would have been recognised in profit or loss if these corporate bonds had been
measured af amortized cost. All other changes in the carmving emount of these
corparate bonds are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
under the heading of revaluation reserve. When these corporate bonds are
derecognised, the cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.
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4, Material accounting policy information (continued)
4.3 Financial instruments {continoed)
4.3.1 Financial assets (continued)

lzssifi

iii. Equity instruments designated as at FYTOCT

On ‘initial recognition, the company may maeke an irevecable election {on an
instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate investments in equity instruments as at
FVTOCI, Designation at FVTOC] is not permitted if the equity investment is held
for trading o if it is contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in & business
combination.

Investmenis in equity instruments af FVTOCI are initially measured at fair valie
pluz tramsaction costs, Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains and
losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the revaluation reserve. The cumulative gain or loss is not
reclassified to profit or loss on dispesal of the equity investments, instead, it is
transferred to retained earnings.

Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss
in accordance with IFRS 9, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part
of the cost of the investment. Dividends are included in the “lnvestment income /
{expense)” ling em in profit or loss. Prior to the [FRS 9 adoption, the company
used to designate all investments in equity instruments as part of not held for trading
s at FYWTOCL on initial recognition.

A financial asset is held for trading if either:
[t has been acguired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term;
On initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments
that the group manages together and has evidence of a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking:
It is a derivative {except for a derivative that is a financial guarantes contract or &
designated and effective hedging instrument),

Subsequent to the adoption of IFRS 9, the Company no longer designate the
investment in equity instruments as not held for trading and as a result, the equity
instruments held by the Company are now meesured at FVTPL.
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4.

Material accounting policy information {continued)

4.3 Financial instruments {continued)

d.3.1 Financial azsets (contimed)

Classification of financial assets {continued)
iv, Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost ar
FVYTOLI are measured at FVYTPL. Specifically:

Investments in equity instruments are classified as at FVTPL, uniess the
company designates an equity investment that is held for trading on initial
recognition.

[Debt instruments that do not meet the amorhised cost cntena or the FVTOC!
eriterin are clessified as at FVTPL. Debt instruments that meet either the
amortised cost coferia or the FAWTOCI criteria may be designated as at FYTPL
upon imitizl recognition if such designation eliminates or significantly reduces &
measurement or pecognifion incensistency that would arise from measuring
assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases.
The company has not designated any debt instruments as at FVTPL.

Financial assats at FVTPL are measured at fair value ab the end of each reporting
period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit or. The gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend or interest earned on the financial
gsset and 1s included in the "Investment income S {expense}” ling in profit or loss.

Forei | ita0d]

Financial assets that are denominated in a foreign currency is recognised in that
foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at the end of each reporting period.
bp::tﬁmlly fior:

Financial assets measured at amortised cost, exchange differences are recognised
in profit or boss in the "Investment income [/ (expense)” lineg in profil or loss,

Dbt instruments measured at FVTOCI, exchange differences on the amortised
cost of the debt instrument are recognised in profit or loss in the "[nvestment
income { {expense)” line ftem. As the foreign currency efement recognised in
profit or loss is the same as if £ was measured at amortized cost, the residual
foreign currency element based on the translation of the carrving amount (at fair
value) is recognised in other comprehensive income in the revaluation reserve.
Financial assets measured at FVTPL, exchange differences are recognised in
profit or loss in the "Investment income / (expense)"” line item in profit or loss.
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4.
4.3
4.3.1

Material aceounting policy information {continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued )

Impairment of financial assets

The company recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on investments
im debt instruments that are measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI, trade
receivables and contract assets, a5 well as on cash and cash equivalents. The amount
of expacted credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit
risk since initial recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The company always recognises lifetime expected credit losses (ECL) for trade
receivables and confract assets. The expected credit losses on these financial assets
are estimated using a provision matrix based on the company*s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of
eoiditions at the reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate,
For all other financial instruments, the company recognises fifetime ECL when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the
credit risk on the financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial
reconition, the company maasures the loss allowance for that financial instrument
at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses thal will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial insfrument. [n contrast, | 2-rmonth
ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default
avents on & financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reparting date,

Significant increase in eredit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a finsncial instrument has increased
sipnificantly gince initial recognition, the company compares the risk of a default
occuring on the financial inatrument at the reporting date with the risk of o default
occurring on the Gnancial instrument at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the company considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or effort,
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4
4.3
431

Material acecounting policy information (continued)

Financial instruments {continued)
Finaneial asscis (continmed)

irment of financial gssets (continued

Significant increase in credit nsk (continued)

Forward-looking  information considered includes the  future prospects of the
industrizs in which the company’s debtors operate, obtained from economic expert
reports, finencial analysts, and other similar organisations, as well as consideration
of various external sources of actual and forecast economic information that relate fo
the company's core operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing
whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition;

An actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s
gxtermal (if availabie) or intesrnal credit mting;

Significam deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk for a
particular financial instrument, &g, a significant increase in the credit spread, the
credit default swap prices for the debior, or the length of time or the extent to
which the fair value of a financial assel kas been less than its emortised cost;
Existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected 10 cause a significant decrease in the debtor's ability
o mweet its debit obligations;

An sctugl o expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor;

Significent increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same
dehtor;

An actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in
the debilor's ability 1o meet its debt obligations.

Irespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the company presumes that the
credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly since mitial recognition
when contractual pavments are more than 30 days past due, unless the company has
reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.
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4.
4.3
4.3.1

Material accounting policy information {continuwed)
Financial instruments {continwed)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Sgnificant increase in credit risk {continued)

The company assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has nol increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial Instrument is determined to
have kow credit risk at the reporting date. & fnancial instrument is determined to
have low credit risk if:
- The financial instrument has a low risk of default;
The debtor is capable to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near
torm;
- Adverse changes In economic and business conditions in the longer term may,
but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its obligations.

The company considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when the asset has
external credit rating of “investment grade’ in accordance with the globally
understood definition or if an external rating is not available, the asset has an
internal mating of ‘performing’, Performing means that the counterparty has a strong
financial position and there are no past due armounis. The company regularly
maonitors the effectiveness of the criteria uzed to identily whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate o ensure that the
criteria are capable of ldentifving significent incresse in credit risk bhefore the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The company considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal

credit risk management purposes as historical experience indicates that financial

asaels that meet either of the following critena are generally not recoverable:

- When there is a breach of financial covenants by the debtor

- Information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay itz creditors, including the group, in full.

[respective of the above, the company considers that default has occurred when a
financial assef is more than 90 days past due unless the company has reasonable and
supportahle information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more

Approprate.
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4.
4.3
4.3.1

I,

Material aceounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments {continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impai ial as: inued)
Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental

impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have ocourred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about the

following events:

- Bignificant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower:

- A breach of contract, such as 2 default or past dus event;

= Itis probable that the borrower will enter bankruptey:

- The disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of
financial difficulties

Write-off policy

A financial asset s written off when there is information indicating that the debtor is
in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, €.g. when
the debtor has been placed under liquidation or hes entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts are over two
years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the company's recovery procedures, taking
into sccount legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in
profit or loss,

Meesurernent and recognition of expected credit losses {“ECLs)

The measurement of the ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given
default {i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at
default. The assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information as deseribed above. As
for the exposure st default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets®
gross carrying amount at the reporting date. For financial assets, the ECL is
estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due 1o the
company in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Eroap
Expects o receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate.
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4,
4.3
4.3.1

Material accounting policy information {confinued)
Financial instruments {continued)

Financial assets {eontinued)

Impairment of financial assets {continued)

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses (continuad)

If the company has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an
amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous reporting period, but determines at the
current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the
company measures the loss allowance at an amount egqual to 12-month ECL af the
current reporting date, except for assets for which the simplified approach was used
The company recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial
instruments with a corresponding adjustment o their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account, except for investments in debt instruments that are measured at
FWTOC, for which the loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the revaluation reserve, and does not reduce the carrying amount
of the financial asset in the statement of financial position

D . f finansial

The company derecognisss a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the
cash flows from the =sset expire, or when it trensfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If
the company neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and continues 1o control the transferred asset, the company recognisas its
retaimed interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to
pay. IT the company retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of 2
transferred financial assel, the company continues (o recognise the financial asset
and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the procesds received.

Un derecognition of & financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and
receivable is recognised in profit or less. In addition, on derecognition of an
investment in & debt instrument claszified as a1t FVTOCL, the cumulative gain or loss
previously accumulated in the revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or foss. In
pontrast, on derecopnition of an investment in an eguity instrument which the
company has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCL, the cumulative
gain or foss previously accumulated in the revaluation reserve is not reclassifisd to
profit or loss, but is transferred to retained eamings.
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43.2

4.4

Material accounting policy information {continued)
Financial instrumenis (continwed)

Financial liabilities and cquity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the ¢contracheal arrangements and the definitions
of a financial lakiliny and an equity instrument.

Equity insirimenis

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets
of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Fincnciol ahilities

All financial liabilities are measured subsequently &t amortised cost using the
effective interest method. The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interast expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future ¢ash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an
inbegral part of the effective nterest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate)
a shorter period, 10 the amortised cost of a financial liability.

Taxathon

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to
itens recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case
the current and deferred tax is also dealt with in other comprehensive income or in

cquity, as appropriate,

Current tax is based on the taxable result for the period. The taxable result for the
period differs from the resull as reported in profit or loss because it excludes ifems
which are non-assessable or disallowed and it further excludes items that are taxable
or deductible in other periods. It is caleulated using tax rates that have bean enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method in respect of
temporary differences arising from differences betwesn the carrying amount of
assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of axable profit.
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4.5

4.6

Material accounting policy information (confinued])
Taxation {eontinued)

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all maxable emporary differences
and deferved tax assets, are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be
utilisad.

Deferred tax iz calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period
when the asset iz realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates that have bean
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset when the Company hes a legally
enforceable right to 524 off the recognised amounts and intends 2ither to ssitle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Deferred tax assets and lishilities are offsst when the Company has a legally
enforceable right to set off its current tax assets and liabilities and the deferred tax
assets and Liabilities relaie to income taxes levied by the same taxation zuthoeity on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which imtend either to
settie current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and setle
the liabilities simulianeouzly, in each fufere period in which significant amounts of
deferred fax lHabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash balances and term deposits with an
originating maturity of three months or less. Bank overdrafis that are repayable on
demand and form an infegral part of the Company s cash management are included
as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the Statement of
Cash Flows and are presented in current liabilities on the statement of finzncial
position.

Currency translation

The financial statements of the Company are presented in its functional currency, the
Euro, being the cwrency of the primary economic environment in which the
Company operates. Transactions denominated in currencies ather than the functional
currency are transiated ai the exchange rates roling on the date of fransaction.
Mometary assels and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the functional
curreney are re-translated o the functional currency at the exchange rate ruling at
vear end. Exchange differences arising on the settlement and on the re-translation of
monstary items are dealt with in profit or loss.
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4.7

4.8

Material accounting policy information (continued)

Currency transtation (contimmed)

Foreign exchange gains and losses are classified with other operating income or
other operating expenses as appropriate, except in the case of significant exchange
differences arising on investing or financing sctivities, which are classified within
investment incoma, investment losses or finance costs &s appropriate.

Investment in subsidiary

A subsidiary is an enfity that is controtled by the Company. The Company controls
an investee when the company is exposed, or has rights, to variahle retuns from s
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those retums through its
power over the invesiee.

Investment in subsidiary is stated af cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
An impairment lass is the amount by which the carrving amount exceeds 15
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use (which is the present value of the future cash flows
expected to be derived, discounted using a pre-tax discount rate that reflecis current
marked assessment of the time value of money and the rsks specific to the asset).
Where the recoversble amount is less than the carrving amount, the carrying amount
of the invesiment is reduced to its recoverable amount, as calculated.

Lenses

The Company assesses whether a contract is, of contains, a leage, at inception of the
contract. The Company recopnises 4 rghi-of-use assel and a corresponding lease
liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it 13 the |essee, except for
short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and
leases of low value assets, if any. For these l=ases, the Company récognises the lessa
payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease
unless anather systematic bagis is more representative of the time pattern in which
seonomic benefits from the leasad assets are consumed.

The lease lability is initially measured a1 the present value of the lease payments
that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in
the lezse, IF this rate cannot be readily determined, the Company uses 15 incrémenial
borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease lishility comprise fixed
lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments).
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4.8

Material accounting policy information {(continned)
Leases (continued )

The lease libility is presented as a separate line in the statement of financial
position, The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying
amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the effective interest method)
and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

The Company remeasures the lease lability (and makes a corresponding adjustment
to the related right-of=use asset) whenever:

* The lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in
circumstances resulting in 8 change in the assessment of exercise of a
purchase option, in which case the lease liability i3 remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount ratg,

* The lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change
in expected payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments
using an unchanged discount rate (unless the leaze payments changes is doe
1o a change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate
iz usad),

* A lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted
for as & scparate lease, in which case the lease liability is remeasured
besed on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised
fease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification,

In 2023 and 2022, the Company did nol make any such adjustiments.

The right-of-use assel comprises the initial measurement of the corresponding lease
liability, lease payments made at or before the commencement day, less any lease
incentives received end any initial direct costs. The right-of-use asset is subsequently
measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses

Righi-of-use asset is depreciated over the shomer period of leass term and wselul life
of the righi-of-use asset, 1T a lease ransfers ownership of the underlying esset or the
cost of the right=of-use asset reflects that the Company expects o excroise a
purchase opiion, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life of
the underlying asset. The depreciation starts a1 the commencement date of the lease.
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4.5

4.9
4.9.1

a4.9.2

Materinl aceounting policy information (continaed)
Leases (continued)

The right-of-use asset is presented as a separate ling in the statement of financial
position. The Company applies 1A 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset s
impaired and accounts for any identified impairment loss as desceibed im the
‘Property, Plant and Equipment’ policy.

Equity
Share Capital

Ordinary shares are claszified as eguity. Dividend distribution to the Company's
thareholders is recognised as a liability in the Company’s financial statements in the
year in which the dividends are approved by the Company's shareholders,

Ehareholders” Contribution

Contributions made by the Company's shareholders for which settlement is neither
planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeabls fubure, For which no interest 15 levied
by the shareholders and that are not subject 1o any restrictions, the fulfilment of any
conditions or requirements on the part of the Company are treated as equity.

Judgements in applyving accounting policies and key sources of estimation
uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements as adopied by the EU requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies
and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses, The estimates
and underlying assumptions are confinually evaluated and reviewed and are bassd
on historical experience and various other factors that are belisved 0 be repsonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making judgements
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. As a result, sctual results may differ from estimates.

Any revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the persod of the
revigion and future periods if the revizion affects both current and future periods.

The key assumption concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty, at the end of each reporting period, that have a significant risk of
causing & material adjustment to the carrying amounis of assets and liabilities within
the next financial vear, is discussed below:
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Judgements in applying accoonting policies and key soorces of estimation
uncertabnty (continued)
Insurance and reinsarance contracts

The Company applies the PAA to simplify the measurement of insurance contracis.
When measuring liabilities for remaining coverage, the PAA is broadly similar to the
Company”s previous accounting treatment under IFRS 4, However, when measuring
limbilities for incurred claims, the Company now discounts cash flows that are
expected to occur more than one year afier the date on which the claims are incurmed
and includes an explicit risk adjustment for non-financial risk (refer o MNote 3.1.4),

Liability for remaining coverage
Chrerous Eroups

The Company is reguired to estimate the loss component for groups of contracts
that are onerouws, This gives rise o estimation uncertainty in relation 1o the
estimate of fulfilment cashflows, particularly in relation to the unexpired portion
of risk, where loss events are not yet known, The cash flows are estimated based
on assumptions and methodologies developed by the actuanal function and any
variation between actual and expected losses are adjusted in the vear when such
information becomes available, Any loss-recovery component @5 determined with
reference 1o the loss component recopnised on undeclying contracts and the
recovery expected on such claims from reinsurance contracts held.

Liakility for incarred claims

There are several sources of uncertainty that need to be considered in the estimate
of the amounts that the Company will ultimately pay for such claims, The
Company relies on the opinion of an independent Actuarial Function, for the
caleulation of the technical provisions. The meserve calculations  follow
methodologies that meet the local requirements and are approved by the competent
uthorities. The Function confirms that the Company s technical provisions are set
comrectly and are sufficient to cover liabilities. It also coordinates the assessment
and velidation of internal deta to determine the level of compliance with
recognised standards for data quality and, if necessary, recommends improvements
in Company procedures aimed at improving such compliance, Furthermore, the
Actuarial Function reviews the integeity of any relevant external data within the
caleulation of technical provisions, as may be appropriate and coordinates the
process of validation of such external data, using the same criteria and standards
applied to internal data.
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3. Judgements in applying accounting policies and key sources of estimation
uncertainty (confinued)

51, Insurpnce and reinsurance contracts (continwed)
5.1.2. Liability for incurred claims (continued)
Time valwe of money

For all product lines, the Company adjusts the carrying amount of the Hability for
incurred claims to reflect the time value of money and the effect of financial risk
using discount rates that reflect the characieristics of the cash Mows of the group of
insurance contracts af inifial recognition. Refer (o Mode 5,13 for the discount rates
used by the Company,

5.1.3.  Discount rades

Insurance contract liabilities are calculated by discounting expected future cash
flows at a risk free rate, plus an illiquidity premium where applicable. The
Company has considered the “bottom-up®™ method to be the most appropriate 1o
generate the vield curves required under [FRS 17, The bottom-up discount rates
are’ determined by deriving iwo components: the risk-free vield curve and an
illiguidity premivm adjusiment.

Rizsk-Free Field Curve

The risk-free yield curve adopted by the Company is the Ewro EIOPA Risk Free
Rates as at 31 December 2023,

;!!ﬂl:jlul.l'ﬁ'.'ﬁul:p' Premivm Hﬁ'guﬁru:mc'n.l'

In addifion to this, the liquidity characteristics of the insurance contracts have been
considered when deriving the approprnate dliguidity premium. The following
charactenstics have been noted:
» The timing and payment of losses cannot be confirmed 10 be predictable,
given the loss history,
*  The contracts are shor term in duration.

Bazed upon the above, the Company has considered the insurance contracts to be
liquid and thus there is no need to adjust the risk-free curve with an illiquidity
premium, Therefore, the EIOPA risk-free yield curves in respect of EUR have
been used for the IFRS 17 discount,
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5,

31
5.1.3.

1 year

3 36%
3. 18%

51.4.

Judgements in applying accounfing policies and key sources of estimation
gocertainty (continoed)
Insurance and reinsurance contracts (continued)

Discount rates (continoned)

Driscount rates applied for discounting of future cash flows are listed below:

Zyears 3 vears dyears Svyears 6Gyvears Tvears Byears 9 vears

2069% Z244% 2.35%  232% 232 233%  I35% 13T
330%  3.20%  303% 3.03% 301% 309 309%  3.0%%

Rizk adjustment for non-financial risk

in
VEars

1.39%
1.09%

The risk adjustment for non-financial risk is the compensation that the Company
requires for bearing the uncertainty abouwt the amount and timing of the cash fows

of groups of insurance contracts. The risk adjustment reflects an amount that an
insurer would rationzlly pay 1o remove the uncertainty that future cash flows will
exceed the expected value amount

The risk adjustment was calculated using the Value-at=Risk (“%aR™y method,

which is a quantile or “confidence level” technique and it calculates the expected

loss on a portfolio at a specified confidence level. This is the method used to
calculate the Solvency Capital Requirement under Solvency I, whereby required
capital is set at a 99.5% VaR on the amount of Own Funds over 8 one-year fime

horizon.

The Company has estimated the nisk adjustment using a confidence level
(probability of sufficiency) approach at the 75* percentile (2022: 75% percentile).
That is, the Company has assessed its indifference to uncertainty for all product
fines (as an indication of the compensation that it requires for bearing non-
financial risk) as being equivalent to the 75™ percentile (2022: 75% percentile)
confidence level less the mean of an estimated probability distribution of the future
cash Mows, The Company has estimated the probability distribution of the future
cash flows, and the additional amount above the expecied present value of fifure

cash flows reguired to mest the target percentiles

A9
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5 Judgements in applving accounting policies and key sources of estimation
upcertainty (continued)

5.1, Insurance and reinsurance contracts (continued)

515

516

Aszsessment of eligibility for PAA approach

For the third party liability contracts which have a contract boundary of beyond
one vear, the Company has elecied to measure these contracts using the PAA
approach, given that at inception of such policies, the Company reasonably
expects that it will provide a liakility for remaining coverage that would not differ
materially from the CGeneral Measurement Model, The Company has exercised
judgemenl in detsrmining whether the PAA eligibility éritéria has been met at
initial recognition,

Methods vsed and judgements applied in determining the IFRS 17 fransition
amoumnts

The Company has adopied IFRS 17 retrospectively, whereby the full retrnipn:ctiue
approach was applied to the insurance contracts and reinsurance contracts issued
as well as reinsurance contracts held in force at the transition date as the Company
determined that reasonable and supportable information was available for all
contracts in force,

Accordingly, the Company hes: identified, recognised and measured each group of
insurance confracts and cach insurance acquisition cash flows assei i this
category as if IFRS 17 had always applied (except that a retrospective impairment
test has not been performed); derecognised any existing balances that would not
exist if IFRS 17 had always applied; and recognised any resulting net difference in

equity,
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5.

5.2

Judgements in applying accounting policies and key sources of estimation
unceriainty (continacd)

Impairment assessment of amount due from the Company’s parent entity and
amount due from and investment in subsidiary

As at 31 December 2023, the Company has & receivable from its parent, DAN
Evrope Foundation (the *parent enfify "), with a carmying amount of EUR 1.4 million
a5 g balance sheet date, Furthermore, the Company also has a receivable from its
subsidiary with a carmying amount of EURLY million as at 31 December 2023, The
balances have arisen predominately from funding provided by the Company and its
subsidiary for the parent entity to meet its ongoing obligations.

The parent entity did not have sufficient liguidity as af 31 December 2023 1o settle
these receivebles. An impairment assessment of these receivables was carried out as
at financial reporting date. The impairment assessment of the Company®s receivable
from and investment in subsidiary depends on the recoverability of the subsidiary’s
receivable due from the parent entity.

Management has determined that the recoverability of the receivables is dependent
on the future profitability of the Company and its subsidiary to allow dividend
distributions to the parent entity which shall be wsed to reduce the outstanding
amounts. Furthermore, the parent entity’s founders have provided a commitment to
inject EURGO0, 000 to the parent enfity which amount shall be used by the parent
entity to partly repay the amount payable to the Company should the need arise.

The Company has prepared projections setfing ot the future prelits of the
Company, iz subsidiary and the porent entity over a five vear period. The
projeciions are based on financial budgets approved by the directors. The tax
calculation wathin the projections are worked on a 35% tax rete and allowing for
notional mterest deduction.
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5. Judgements in applying accounting policies and key sources of estimation
uneertainty (continued)

5.1 Impairment assessment of amount due from the Company's parent entity and
amount due from and investment in subsidiary {continued)

The key assumptions used by management in setting the financial budgets for the
initial five-year period were as follows:

Forecast reverne growdh rales

Forecast revenue growth rates are based on (1) past expenence and {2) recent increase
in volume of active members considering the recovery frem COVID-19.

Operating profis

Operating profits are forecast based on historical experience of operating marging,
adjusted For the impact ofli the varous cost cutling measures being taken to
compensate for the losses incurred by the Company. These have started being
implementad within the DAN Europe group from 2023,

Sewnsitivity analysis

Due to the uncertainties around forecasting, various sensitivity analyses were carricd
cut by management to determine impact of any changes in the key inputs 1o the future
projections, particularly on forecasied revenue and expenses.

An incresse’decrease in revenue and increase/decrease of expenses was considered,

The resilts of the sensitivity analvsis are as fallows:

a Increase in revenue and decrease in expenses over the vears provide more
headroom as the balance remaining to be paid in the final year would be lower.

b. Decrease in revenue and incresse in expenses within the group still result in the
roceivable being fully settled within the five years,

The recovershility of amount due from the Company®s parent entity is heavily
dependent on the Company, s subsidiary and the parent eniity achieving the
projections bazsed on the above key assumptions. Such projections may be subject 1o
estimation uncertainty and may be affected by future marke! or economic conditions.
Management has assessed that the receivables from the parent enfity is recoverable,
whereas the investment in subsidiary, as disclosed in Note 20, has been impaired by
EUR268,164 {26.82% of the original cost of the investment). The receivables have
been measured at their present value using the effective interest rate.
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6.1
6.1.1

Inzurance and financial risk
Insurance risk

Insurance and Reinzurance contracis

The Company writes insurance for students, recreational and professional divers.
This business is accepted within safe practice guidelines issued by the international
recognised diving bodies, The Company insures members of DAN Europe
Foundation the majority of who are EL residents. The policies issued are in the EU
but provide insurance benefits when diving anywhere in the world.

The following gives an assessment of the Company’s main products and the ways
in which it manages the associated risks.

Emergency medical, personal acclden, répatrigtion and trave! assistance

These policies offer insurance cover for emergency medical, personal accident,
repatriation and travel assistance anywhere In the world. As such the claim costs
of the insured accident vary depending on the severity of the accident, its location
and the guality, extent and tariffs of the medical facilities in the accident location.

Civil and professional labilitg

These policies are ocourrence-based wordings. Therefore, the Company is liable to
all insured events that occurred during the term of the contract, even if the loss is
disgovered after the end of the contract terms, These liability claims also take
longer to develop then claims submitted under the Company’s Accident program
and as a result, the estimation of claims incurred but not reported and claims
incurred but not enough reported is generally subject to a greater degree of
uncertainty.

Legal defence

These policies offer legal defence benefits when diving anywhere in the world. As
@ result the claim costs of the insured accident vary.

The Company manages these risks by implementing its underwriting and claims
management strategy developed after having obtained and considered expen
advice approved by the Board. The skills available to the Company 1o manage the
insurance and claims issues arising from the insured accidents have been built up
OVER many years,




IDA Insurance Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
Far the Year Ended 31 Decernber 2023

6.1
6.1.1

Insurance pnd finpncial risk (continued)
Insurance risk {continned)

Insurance and Reinsurance conlraeis {continued}
Legal dafence feontinued)

The Company's underwriting risk is addressed by detailed and thorough policies,
namely: underwriting risk policy, retrocession policy and claims management and
claims reserving policy. The objective of these policies is to ensure that:

= reasonable and effective controls are in place to support the risk selection
and underwriting process;

® ihe Company’s reétrocession program provides secure cOverage appropriate
i the Company's strategy, level of capital and risk profile;

e the risks arising out of retrocession as a risk mitigation technique are
properly understood, addressed and monitored;

e claims are managed fairly and recorded properly in line with reinsurance
agreements and all amounts recoverable from reinsurers are duly
callected,

= a consistent methadology for the calculation of, and the accounting for,
claims outstanding and [BMR is maintained.

The objective of the Company is to ensure that sulficient reserves are available to
cover the liabilities associated with these insurance and reinsurance contracts that
it issues. The risk exposwre is mitigated by diversification across the porifolios of
inswrance contracts, The varability of nsks 15 also improved by careful selection
end implementation of underwriting strategy guidelines, as well as the use of
reinsurance held arrangements. Furthermore, strict claim review policiés to assess
all new and ongping claims, regular detailed review of claims handling procedures
ard frequent investigation of possible fraudulent elaims are established 1o reduce
the risk exposure of the Company. The Company further enforces a policy of
actively managing and prompily settling ¢laims, in order to reduce its exposure to
unpredictable future developments that can negatively impact the business.
Inflation risk is mitigated by taking expected inflation into account when
estimating insurance contract liabilities and pricing appropriately,
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6
.1

6.1.1

Insurance and financial risk (continued)
Insurance risk (continued)
Insurance and Reinsurance contracts {continued)

The Company reinsures part of the risks it underwrites in order to contral s
exposures to losses and protect capital resources, The Company buys non-
proportionats reinsuwrance treaties to reduce the Company’s net exposure. Ceded
reinsurance contains credit risk, and such reinsurance recoversble are reported
after deductions, if any, for known insolveéncies and, uncollectible items. The
Compeny monitors the financial condition of reinsurers on an ongoing basis and
reviews iz reinsurance arrangements annually.

For the liability class of business, the Company utilises a reinsurance agreement
with non-affiliasted reinsurers to control its exposure o losses resulting from one
occurrence and for the accumulation of net losses arising out of one occurrence.

The terms and conditions of insurance contracts that have a material effect on the
amount, timing and uncerainty of future cash flows arising from insurance
contracts are sef out balow,

Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are estimated in a manner consistent with
underlying insurance contract liabilities and in accordance with the reinsurance
contracts, Although the Company has reinsurance arrangements, it is not relieved
of its direct obligations to its policyholders and thus a credit exposure exists with
respect to reinsurance held, to the extent that any reinsurer is unzble to meet its
obligations. The Company's placement of reinsurance is diversified such that it is
neither dependent on & single reinsurer nor are the operations of the Company
substantially dependent upon any single reinsurance contract.

The Company manages its underwriting risk by defining risk acceptance criteria,
based on a set of qualitative and quantitative objectives, bearing in mind the
capital implications of all risk decisions. Since its establishment, the Company has
developed its own underwriting criteria and strategy which have evolved in line
with the technical underwriting disciplines of its international treaty reinsurers.

The main pricing consideration is an ¢xpectation of adequate profit over the life of
the insurance confract, in light of the risk assumed and the capital required 1o
assume the risk. Thiz will include, amongst others, consideration of administration
and operational costs, historical claims experience, cost of expested retrocession
and market pricing.
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6.1
&.1.1

6. 1.1.1

Insurance and financial risk {continwed)
Insurance risk (continued)
Insurance and Reinsurance contracts (continued)

The Company’s underwriting results are reported to the Board regularly, At each
Board meeting, the Underwriting Function reviews and analyses the premiums,
claims and the underwriting performance of each individual line of business. At
the Board’s request, the Underwriting Function runs siress testing'scenarlo
analysis o determine the effect of specified events on the underwriting resulis,
capital adequacy and solvency. The directors are of the opinion that the Company
is well prepared o mest the identified rsks due to selective underwriting
procedures and intelligent stop loss protections for the lines of business with a
critical exposure.

Hensitivities

With respect to gemeral business Habalities, the main source of uncartainty s
associated with the estimation of the ultimate claims cost on the liability ling of
business, In this regand, due to the low frequency and high severity nature of this
ling of business as well as the limited claims experience, the Actuarial Function
calculates the confidence interval surrounding the probability of the ultimate
claims cost being lower than the total cutstanding reserves.

The liability for incurred claims is sensitive 10 the key assumptions In the table
below. It has not been possible o quantify the sensitivity of cerlain assumptions
such as legislative changes or uncertainty in the estimation process.

The following sensitivity analysis shows the impact on profit before tax for
reasonably possible movements in key assumptions with all other assumptions
held constant. The comelation of assumptions will have a significant effect in
determining the ultimate impacts, but to demonstrate the impact due to changes in
each assumption, assumptions heve been changed on an individual basis, It should
be noted that movements in these assumptions are nonlinear. The method used for
deriving sensitivity information and significant assumptions did not change from
the previous period
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i) Insurance and financial risk (continued)

6.1 Insurance risk (continued)
8.1 Insurance and Reinsurance contracis (continoed)
f.1.1.1 Sensitivities (continued)

Weighted average term

o settlement

Expected losses

Diiscount rates

Risk adjustment

Weighted average ferm

to settlement

Expected losses

Discount rates

Risk adjustment

2023

Change
assumptions

Hie
+2%
+1%
+1%

012

Change
assumprions

+10%%
|z|}{|
+1%
+1%

Impact on  equity
ErOss of
refnsuranee

£

-18,082
-109,442
+101,676
15,734

Impact on  prafit
before

tax gross af
reinsurance

L3

+61, b
-102,716
+113,421
-15, 182

Impact on equity
nef of relnsurance

i

-23 800
=00, 190
+78,885
=] 2,899

Impaet on  profit
hefare

tax riid al
reinsurance
L

+45,600
02171

+34.516
-13.370

The following tables show the estimates of cumulative incurred claims, including
both claims notified and IBNR for each successive accident year at each reporting
date, together with cumulative payments to date

As reguired by IFRS 17, In setting claims provisions, the Company gives
consideration 10 the probability and magnitude of fulure experience being more
#dverse than assumed which is reflected in the risk adjustment. In general, the
uncertainty associated with the ultimate cost of settling claims is greatest when the
claim is al an early stage of development. As claims develop, the ultimate cost of
claims becomes more certain,
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6.2

6.2.1.

Insurance and financial risk (continoed)
Financial risk management

The exposures to risk and the way risks arise, together with the Company’s
objectives, policies and processes for maeneging and measuring these risks are
disclosed in more detail below.

The Company is exposed to financial risks through its financial assets, financial
liabilitics, Teinsurance assefs and insurance liabilities. These comprise mainly
market risk, credit risk, and liquidity risk. Each of these financial risks is described
below, together with 2 summary of the ways in which the Company manages these
risks.

Where possible, the Company aims to reduce and control risk concentrations
Concentrations of financial risk arise when financial instruments with similar
characteristics are influenced in the same way by changes in economic or other
factors. The amount of the risk exposure associated with financial instruments
sharing similar characteristics is disclosed in more detil in the Notes 1o the
Financial Statements,

Credit risk

Credit sk is the risk that one party 1o a financial instrument, insurance coniract
issued in an &ssel position or reinsurance contract held will canse a financial loss
for the other party by failing to discharge an obligation. The following policies and
procedures are in place to mitigate the Company's exposure to credit risk.

The Company’s credit risk policy sets out the assessment and determination of
whai constitutes credit risk for the Company. Complisnce with the policy is
monitored and exposures and bréaches are reporied to the Company’s board of
directors, The policy is regularly reviewed for pertinence and for changes in the
risk environment.

Credit risk relating to financial instruments is monitored by the Company's
Investment Committes./ It is their responsibility to review and manage credit risk,
including environmental risk for all counterparties. The Company manages and
controls credit risk by sefting limifs on the amount of sk it is willing o accept for
individisal counerparties and for geographical and industry concentrations, and by
monitoring exposures in relation to such limits. It is the Company's policy to
invest in high quality financial instruments with a low risk of defawlt. If there is a
significant increase in credit risk, the policy dictates that the instrument should be
sold and amounts recovered reinvested in high quality instruments,
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.2
6.2.1.

Insurance and Mnancial risk (continuesd)
Financial risk management (confinued)
Credit risk {continued)

The Company cedes insurance risk to limit exposure to underwriting losses under
various agreements. These reinsurance agreements spread the risk and minimise
the effect of losses. The amount of each risk retained depends on the Company's
evaluation of the specific risk subject in ¢enain circumstances, to maximum limits
based on characteristics of coverage. Under the terms of the reinsurance
agreements, the reinsurer agress to reimburse the ceded amount in the event the
claim is paid, However, the Company remains liable to its policyholders with
respect to ceded insurance if any reinsurer fails to meet the obligations it assumes.
The Company manages its credit risk arising through its reinsurance arrangements
by using “A”™ rated reinsurers or reinsurers that are part of an “A”" rated proup.

When sclecting a reinsurer the Company considers their relative security. The
security of the reinsurer 5 assessed from public rating information and from
internal investigations, At esch reporting date, management performs an
assessment of creditworthiness of reinsurers and updates the reinsurance purchase
strategy. The credit risk in respect of customer balances incurred on non—payment
of premiums will only persist during the grace period specified in the policy
decument. Commission paid to intermediaries s netted ofT againsl amounts
receivable from them to redwce the risk of default,

The nature of the Company's exposure 1o credit risk and its objectives, policies
and processes used to manage and measure the risks have not changed from the
previous period,

The total financial assets bearing credit risk are the following:

2023 22z

EUR ELIR

Beinsurance coniract assels 1698 652 1,636,059
Related Party receivables 3170232 3,590,177
Cash and cash equivalenis 3,932,106 2,247,756
Invesiments in financial assets 2.830.979 2,788,007
11,649 050 10,261,900

a0
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6.2
6.2.1.

Insurance and Minancial risk {continwed)

Financial risk management {continued)

Credit risk (continged)

11511:_ carrying emounts disclosed above represent the maximum exposure o cradit
[y

Credit risk in respect of insurance and other receivables is not deemad 1o be
significant as balances are largely due from the parent company, other related
parties and the reinsurer.

The Company's cash and cash equivalents as well as term deposits classified as
loans and receivables are placed with quality financial institutions,

The table below shows the credit rating and balance of the Company's cash and
cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period:

Creddit 2023 2022
agency ELUR ELIR
Rating
A A, Standard & Poor 218 863 130144
Al Standard & Poor 415 623 86,59
BBB _ Standard & Poor 2,808,152 1.521,015
No Rafing 469,438 111,007
3,932,106 22477546
. — ——13 -

The credit rating of the Company's reinsurers based on rating amtributed by
Standard & Poor's or equivalent are higher than *A-",

[nvestments in financial assets is made up of both locally and foreign guoted
bonds, locally and foreipn quoted equities as well as an exchange traded fund.
Quoted investments are acquired after assessing the quality of the relevant
investments. The table below shows the credit rating and balance of the
Company’s investment in locally and foreign quoted bonds classified as available-
for-sale investmenis at the end of the reporting period using the Standard & Poor's
credit rating svimbols,

&1
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0 Insurance and financial risk (continoed)
{4 Financial risk management (continued)
6.1.1. Credit risk fcontinwed)

Rating

BBB+
BREB
BEE-
BB

BB-

i+

B-

WD

M rating

6.2.2 Currency risk

2023 202
EUR EUR
244,193 "
. 113,882

- 106, 842
437,351 320,595
- 449,132
879,570 319,240
446,890 328,077
221,794 422 135
51,503 22663
73,530 22 480
20,019 43,113
23,917 21,838
- 107,352
141,022 510,66
1530979 2,788,007

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial
instrument, insurance contract assets andor liahilities will fluctoare because of

changes in foreign exchanae rates.

The Company’s principal transactions are carried out in eoros and its sxposure to
foreign exchange risk arises primarily with respect to the GBP, USD and CHF.
The Company’s financial assets are primarily denominated in the same currencies

a5 its imsurance contract liabilires,

The risk arising from foreign currency transactions is managed by regular
monitoring of the relevant exchange rates and management's reaction to material

imovements theredo,
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] Insurance and Nnancial risk (continwed)
0.2 Financial risk management {comtinmed)
f.2.2 Currency risk {continuwed)

The following table sets out the Company's total exposure to foreign currency sk

2023 2022
Financial nssets Casgh Financial assets Cash
FUR EUR EUR EUR
GREPF 27,143 3T 138,010 [0 690
LR 143 529 48, 800 561,343 | 6,653
CHF 10018 599,152 11,065 43,313
180,650 651,725 TI0418 0676

The following analysis is performed for reasonable possible movements in key
variables, with all other variables held constant, showing the impact on profit
before tax and equity due to changes in the fair value of currency-sensitive
monetary assels and liabilities, including those relating o insurance and
reinsurance contracts. The correlation of variables will have & significant effect in
determining the ultimate impact of currency risk. but to demonstrate the impact
due to changes in variables, variables had to be changed on an individual basis
Should exchange rates a1 the statement of financial pogition date differ by /- 108%,
85 2 result of a change in interest mates, with all other variables hald constant, Uhe
impact in 2023 on the Company's total Comprehensive income would be +-
EURGS.173 (20224 EURT068) and +-EURIS,069 (2022:+- EUTI.042)
respectively

6.2.3  Interesi rate risk

Interest rale risk is the risk thal the fair value or fiture cash flows of a fnancial
Instrument o insurance contract or reinsurance condract will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. Floating rate instruments expose the Company to
cash flow imerest risk, whercas fixed inerest rate instruments expose the
Company {o fair value interest rate risk, There is no direct contractual relationship
between financial assets and insurance contracts. However, the Company’s interest
rate risk policy requires it to manage the extent of net interest rate risk by
maintaining an appropriate mix of fixed and variable rate instruments (o Support
the insurance contract liabilities. The policy also requires it to manage the
maturities of Interest-bearing financial assats.
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fi
.2

Insurance and Mnancial risk (continued)

Financial risk management (continued)

6.2.3 [Interest rate risk {continued)

624

The effective interast rate on the financial investments and loans and receivables is
diselosad in Note 16,

The Company is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk on debi instruments
carrying a floating interest rate and to fair value interest rate risk on debt
instruments carrying a fixed interest rate. Investments in equity instruments ars not
exposed to interest rafe risk. Approximately, 98% (2022; 98%) of the Company's
debt instruments and cash and cash equivalents bear fixed interest rates.

The earrying amounts of the Company's financial instruments carrying a rate of
interest at the end of the reporting period are disclosed in the Notes fo the
Financial Statements.

Should market prices at the end of the reporting period increase/decrease by 10%,
with all other variabies held constant, the impact on the Company's fotal
comprahensive  income would be +- EURIEI0R0 in 2023 (2022 -+~
ELIR272.618).

The financial liabilities of the Company are not subject to payment of interest and
are therefore not exposed to material interest rate risk.

Liquidity risk

The Company has to meet daily calls on its cash resources, notably from claims
arising on its insurance contricts. Liquidity rsk is the risk that the Company will
encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with insurance liabilities that
are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. In respect of catastrophic
events, there is also a liquidity risk associated with the timing differences between
gross cash outflows and expected reinsurance recoveries,

The Company manages this risk by adhering to its investment policy ensuring that
an adequate amount of funds are invested in highly liquid investments.
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B Insurance and financial risk (continwed)
(%] Financial risk management (continued)

6.2.4  Liguidity risk (continwed)

Within  Between Chver
1year 1=5 years 5 yeurs Tuwtal
EUR EUR EUR EUR
Year ended 31 Decen ber 2023
Aszels held at fixed rates
Cash and cash equivalents 3,932,106 30932106

Investments in financial assets 2T40653 1,254,167 1311159 2.839.979

Total interest bearing assets 4,206,758 1,254,167 1,311,159 6,772,085

Within Between Over
1year 1-5years 5 years Tutal
EUR EUR EUR EUR
Year ended 31 December 2022
Asggets hebd ot fixed rates
Cash and cash equivalents 2247756 - - 2247756
[nvestments in financial assets - 1385987 1,211,673 2, 798660

Total interest bearing assets 2247756 1586087 1,210,673 546414

6,25 Price risk

Price risk iz the rizk that the fair value or future cash Oows of lnancial mstruments
of insurance confract assels andfor liabilities will fluctuate because of changes in
market prices (other than thoss arising from interest rate or foreign exchange rate
risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual
financial instrument or contract, or by factors affecting all similar contracts or
finzneial instruments fraded in the market.

The Company's equity, debt instruments and exchange traded fund are susceptible
i price rigk arising from uncertainties about future prices of the instruments.

Should market prices at the end of the reporting period increase/decrease by 109,
with all other variables held constant, the impact on the Company’s other
comprehensive income would be +- EUR21,39%9 in 2023 {2022 +/- ELJR26,208).
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.5

Insurance and financial risk (continued)
Capital management and allocation

The Company's objectives when managing capitals are:

* To comply with the obligations to maintain positive solvency position based
on the regulatory requirements of the insurance market where the Company
Operatas;

+ To safeguard the Company's ability to continue as a going concern so that it
can confinug o provide returns for sharcholders and benefits for other
stakeholders; and

* To provide an adequate return to sharcholders by pricing insurance contracts
commensurately with the level of risk,

The Directors manage the Company s capital structure and miake adjustments to it,
in the light of changes in economic conditions. The capital requirement of the
Company is maintained in accordance with regulatory solvency and cepital
requirements of the insurance market in which it operates. The Company is
financed by sharcholders” total equity. The capital structure is reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Based on recommendations of the Directors, the Company balances
its overall capital structure through the payments of dividends, new share issues as
well az the issue of new debt.

The Company is subject to the provisions of the Solvency Il Directive
(2009/138/EC) which imposes new risk-based, regulatory requirements that
ascertain the level of the required regulatory capital to be held on the basis of the
risks that the Company i3 or can be exposed to. Solvency 1l also sets out the
approach 10 be underaken in order to establish the amount of Solvency 11 own
funds, namely by converting the statement of financial position from an IFRS
perspective 1o one where assets and liabilities are measured in line with their
underlying economic value,

The Directors are actively involved in ensuring that the Solvency Il repulations,
are highly embedded in the Company’s operations. Regular menitoring of the
Selvency Capital Requirement ('SCR') and the Minimum Capital Reguirement
CMCR™Y 5 considered crucial. To this effect, a Capital Management Policy,
eutlining the main drivers of the SCR, was put in place to address the procedures
and controls in this regard. In the case of any identified breaches with the SCR and
MCR, the Directors have put in place a capital plan aimed at ensuring that the
Eﬂ%ﬂapan:r will restore its level of own funds to one which covers both the SCR and
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T Insurance service expense

The breakdown of insurance service expenses is presentad balow:

[ncurred claims and other expenses
Losses on contracts and
reversal of thase losses

Total insurance service cxpense

2023 2002

EUR ELR
(4,764,631)  (5,266,962)
{68, 040) (212,981}
(4832671)  (5479,943)

Incurred claims and other expenses include an allocation of emplovee expenses

which are disclozed in Noie 12,

5. Met cxpenses from reinsurance contracis held

The breakdown of the net expenses from the reinsurance contracts held is

presented below:

Reinsurance expansas -
contracts measured under the PAA
Incurred claims recovery

Total insurance service expense

2. Investment income/ (charges)

Investment gains

[nvestment income

Realised gain / (foss) on sale of investments
Fair value movement on equily instruments
Oiher income / (expenses)

2023 2022
EUR EUR
(677,182) (513,297)
428,575 (548,763)
(248.307)  (1,062,060)
2023 2002
EUR ELR
81,005 102,358
32,237 (157,704)
10,503 (69,292)
TaT (34,574
124,842 (159.212)
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1k,

11.

Inszurance finance income

[asurance finance income [ (expenses)
from insnrance conteacts issued

Interest accreted to insurance conlracls
using current financial assumptions

Beinsurance finance income ! (CXpenses)
feoan reinsurance contracts held

Interest accrefed to reinsurance contracts
using current financial assumptions

Nt insurance finance expense

2023 2022

EUR ELUR
{77,082) (337,603)

2470 48,913
(74,612) (288 690)

Oiher operating expenses

The staff costs have been allocated to the [nsurance Service Expenses for the vear

(Mote T) as part of the Incurred claims and other expenses.

Wapres and salaries
Social security cosis

Recharged by related parties

023 2022
EUR ELR
06,346 457,246
21,635 34,634
327,981 491,480
494,536 121,503
822,517 13,383

6d
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11.

12,

13.

Oiber operating expenses (continmed)

The average number of employees during the year was 11 (2022 — 11}, made up as

follows:
023 2022
Mum ber Mumber
Accoints and adminmstration 7 7
Insurance business 4 4
11 11
Key management personnel compensation
2023 2022
EUR ELR
Directors” fess 100,840 94,400
Director’'s emalument T1.E0S 51,774
172,645 176,234
Profitfloss) belore tax
2023 2022
EUR ELUR
This s stated gfter charging:
Depreciation - TT.887
Amounts payable to the auditors for;
= the audit of the Company’s financial statements B0,0040 40,000
- other assurance services 20,0040 IR
- the audit of the returns of the Company's
Swiss branch 42,004k 35,795
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14. Imcome tax expense

XS 2022
EUR ELIR
Current (ax expensef{cradit) 1,359 1,621
Deferred tax eredit - .
Income tax cxpense 1.359 1.621

The income tax expense for the vear is reconciled to the tax charge of the applicable
income tax rate of 35% as follows:

2023 2023

EUR ELR
Profit / (Loss) before tax 1,149,586 (304,578)
Tax at the applicable rate of 35% 402,355 (176,602)
Tax effect of
Litilisation of trading losses for the vear (400,99 -
Unabsorbed tax losses - 174,981
Income cxpense 1,359 1,621
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15. Lease commitments

In the prior vear, the Company enféred into a 10-vear lease agresment to lease the
property from whers the Group operates, which commenced on 1 January 2022
During, the year, the Company changed its premises and as a result, the name on the
fease is no longer IDA Insurance Limited but the parent entity. As a resull, during
the current year, the Company derecognised the right of use asset and the lease
fiability that it had previously recognized.

Right-of~use asset 2023 2022
EUR EUR
Orpening Balance 535,495 -
Additions - al3.382
Ammortisation charge - (771.587)
Disposal {535,495) -
Closing Balance - 5354935
Lease liability 2023 2022
EUR EUR
Crpening Balance 556,854 -
Additions - kt.3 ek
Interest expense on lease labality - 20,387
Lease payment - {52,300}
Disposal (556,854) -
Closing Balance . 356,884

71



IDA Insurance Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
Faor the Year Ended 31 December 2023

16. Finnneinl assels

Financial asseis as FYTOLCI
Foreign lisied - debi
Laocal [isted - detm

Financial assels as FYTPL
Foreign listed - equity
Foreign exchange traded fund

Total financial assets

2023 202
EUR ELIR
L2644 430 2.6% 007
195,549 9, 000
2,839,979 2. TER007
196,014 202,505
17,978 65,572
213,992 268,077
5,053,971 3,056,084

These financial assets represent investments in foreign listed and local listed
securities which present the Company with opportunity for retum through dividend
of interest income and capital appreciation.  Financial assets camed a weighted

average interest rate of 5.82% (2022: 2.47%) per annum.

Total provision for impairment loss as atb 31 December 2023 amounted to
ELUR 37300 (2022 EURIT 3000, representing 50% of i market value of a foreign

listed security (2022: 50%0).
17.  Cash snd cash equivalenis

Cash and cash equivalents included in the Statement of Cash Flows comprise the

following statement of financial position amounts;

Cash at bank and in hand
Term depositg at banks

Bank owverdraft

2023 2022
EUR EUR
3,932,106 1,847,756
. 400,000
3932106 2,247,756
2 (382,497)
3,932,106 1.865.250

T2
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15

1%,

Related Party receivables

1023 202

EUR EUR
Due from other related parties 1,886,937 1,321,506
Due from parent 1,390,167 2,323,264
D 1o f from other related parties (22,6409) 3113
ECL (75,263) (62,706)
Total receivables 3,179,232 3590177

Mo interest is due on the above receivables. The ferms and conditions of the
amounts owed by related parties are disclosed in MNote 24, The receivable due from
the parent was discounted to its present value.

Investment in subsidiary

Cin 20 April 2021, the Company acquired 100% shares in Ving Insurance Brokers
Limited, making it its subsidiary.

EUR
Asat 1 January 2022 [, e, 00N
Addifions -
Impainment
As at 31 Decemnber 2022 1,000, DM
As an 1 Janwary 2023 1,000,000
Additions £
Impairment (268,164)
A5 et 31 December 2023 731,836

Dwe to the losses incurred by the subsidiary in recent years, this bhas resulted in the
net asset position of the subsidiary to fall well below the origingl cost, Based on the
financial projections prepared by management covering the next 3 years, it has been
determined that the net asset position of the subsidiary within the next 3 years will
not exceed EUR731,836, which has been determined to be the recoverable amount
of the investment. As a result, the Directors agreed to take as an impairment the
difference between the original cost of the investment and the recoverable amount.
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19, Investment in subsidiary (continued})

Name of Subsidiary Registered office Percentage of shares
Ving Insurance Brokers DAM Building, | D05
Limited Sir Ugo Mifsud Sireet, Ta' Xhiex

20, Deferred tax assel

Details of recognized deferred tax assets as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are as

fiosl lpars:
Movement

2022 for the year 03

EUR EUR EUR
Avising on;
Temporary differences
Unabsorbed capital loss o071 - 9,071
Unrealised loss on investments 101,368 - 101,368

101,439 - [ 0,439

Arizing o
Unused tax losses 259,561 - 259 541
Total A70,0HHD - 370, (0

As at 31 December 2023, the Company did not récognize deferred 1ax on the

fllowing:
2023
EUR
Unrealised loss on investments &6, T04
Unabsorbed capital allowances 549
Motional interesi deduction | 89 283
Impairment on investment 37,500
Impairment on investment in subsidiary 268,164
HPY impairment 59,3158
Expected credit loss 26,342
647,901
| — ]

The crystallisation of this asset remains doubtful given the expected pattern of
incame in the future vears and has therefore not been recognised.
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22, Share capital and reserves
22.1 Authorised share capital

2023 022
Mo, Mo,
Authorised at beginning and end of yvear 6,000,000 6,000, 00

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the authorised share capital comprised &,000,000
ordinary shares, all shares have a par value of €1 each.

21.7 Issued share capital

2023 2022
Issued and fully paid EUR EUR
At beginning and end of vear;
5.500,000 Ordinary shares of €1 each 5850000 5 850,000

5850000 5,850,000

123 Revaluation reserve

Revaluation reserve represent fair value movements on financial assots at FYTOCL
net of 1ax, which are recognised in other comprehensive income.

22.4 Capital Contribution
On 7 October 2021, the Company s parent DAM Burope Foundation, issued a capital
contribution of €350,000. The coniribution is inferest free, hes no security and is
payable at the discretion of the Company.

s
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3.

Related party disclosures

The Company is a subsidiary of the Dan Europe Foundation (the “Parent™ which

holds 99% of the ordinary shares of the Company. The registered address of the
Foundation is 26, Fidiel Zarb Strect, Gharghur, Malta.

During the course of the year, the Company entered into transactions with related
partics as set out below. The related party transactions in question were:

1013 F. L F¥)
Related Related
party  Total party Todal
activity  aedivity nctivity gotivity
EUR EUR B EUR ELIR ¥
Oiber Opersting experses:
er'nk'd';:'-c-lrﬂy Frovracdions with:
= PParent company
and gther relmed partics 632 HT4 I.1X3.THI I HMGSTE 1,440,990 17

“Other related parties™ congist of related parties other than the parent, entities that are
controlled or jointly controlled by, directly or indirectly, key management personnel
of the Company.

The amounts due fromito related parties at vear end are disclosed in Mote 18, The
terms gnd conditions in respect of the related party balances do not specify the nature
of the considerntion to be provided in settlement. Mo guarantees have been given or
received. The amounts were unsecured and interest=free, The amounts due from the
parent amounting to EURZ62, 140 is expecied 1o be extinguished through structured
cash settlements over a period of four years from balance sheet date. The remaining
receivable from the parent of EURI 128,027 is 10 be settled by means of set off
against dividends distributed from future profits generated by the Company to parent
entity.
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4.

Fair values of financial aszets and Anancial lhabilites

At 2023 and 2022, the carrying amounts of financial &ssets and financial liabilities
classified with current assels and current liabilities respectivély spproximated their
fair values due to the shor-term maturities of these assets and liabilities,

For financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level
1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its
entirety, which are described as follows:

- Lewel 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assats
or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date;

= Leval 2 inputs are inpuiz, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are
ohservable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

= Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The fair values of non-current financial assets and non-current financial lighilities that
are not measured at fair value are not materially different from theie careying
BTN,

The following table analyses within the fair value hisrarchy the Company's financial
assels and fnancial habilities measured at fair value at 31 Decemiber 2023 and 31
December 322,

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
EUR EUR EUR EUR

3 December 2023
Dbt 280E 479 - J7.500 1839979
Equity 196014 - - 196014
Exchange traded fund 17,978 - - 17,978

Total 3016471 - 57,500 5053071
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25.  Fair values of financial assets and financial Habilities {continued)

Lewel 1 Level 2 Level 3 Tonal
ELUR EUR EUR ELR

31 Pecember 2022
Diehit 2, 750507 - 37,500 2. T88.0:d7
Equity 202,505 - - 202,503
Exchange traded fund 63,572 . = 05,572
3.056,084

Taotal 3,018,584 - 37,500

T=r

The following table shows a reconciliation of the financial assets included within

Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

Balance at | January 2022
Change in fair value of level 3 investment

Balance ai 31 December 2022
Change in fair value of level 3 investment

Balance at 31 December 2023

EUR
112,500
(75,000

37,500

37,500

B2



IDA Insurance Limited

MNotes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 Decembar 2023

25, Falr values of financial assers and financial labilitles {eontinuwed)

The following table below includes further information about the Company's Level 3
fair value management:

Significant Marrative Duantitative
unobservable sensitivity sensitivity
input
EUR EUR EUR
Iol3
Mon-Local Provision for impairment  The higher the A 5% increass
unquoted bond  on the carrying amount of impairment  on /decrease
instrumenis the investment the carrying  would increase
fraunt, the Jdecrease [air
lower in fair wvalue b
value ELR].875
2022 -
UR1,875)

26, Ewvenis after the reporiing period
Subsequent o veéar end, a capital contnibition of €325.000 was injected into the
Company in order to continue stréngthening the net asset position of the Company
and its Selvency Position.
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Repart on the Audit af the Financial Statements gfmﬂsmﬂr:: E’ﬁ;;ﬁﬂ

Cpinken

We hawe audited the fnancial steterments of 1DA Insurance Limited (the "Company”), set out on pages 7 (o 83,
which comprize the staterment of financlal positen as at 31 December 2023, and the staternent of prafit or loss
and other comprehensive income, staterment of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the yaar
then ended, and notes to the financiel skatements, ncluding materdal accounting policy information,

in gur opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view ef the finandal pasition of the
Company as at 21 December 2023, and of it financdal perfarmance and its cash flows for the year then ended
in sceordance with IFRS Acosunting Standards as Issued by tha International Accounting Standards Board
{IFR%s) as adopted by the Evropean Union and have bean properly prepared in accordance with the
reqguirements of the Companias &ct (Cap. 386) and the Insurance Business Act {Cap. 403

Basis for Opinion

We conducted cur audit in scoordance with Intermational Standards on Auditing (1585} Our responsibilites
under thase standards are further described In the Auditor’s Responsibifities for the Audit of the Fingreg!
Statements section of our repart. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the Intermational
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ international Code of Ethics for Prafessional Accountants Inclinding
indernaticral Independence Sandards (FESEA Code), as applicable to audits of financlal statements of public
interest entities, together with the Accountoncy Profession (Code af Ethics for Wirrant Holders) Directive
(Maltese Code] that is relevant to our sudit of the financial statements of public interest entities in Malta. We
have also fulfilled our othar athical respansibilities in aecordanes with the IESBA Code and tha Maltase Code
We belisee that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis far our
opinlon; In conducting our audit, we have remained indepandent of the Company and have not providad any
of the non-audit sarvices prohibited by articke 184[1} of the Maltese Accountancy Profession Act (Cap. 2E1).

Key fudit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance In cur audit
of the financial statements of the current period and Include the most significant assessed risks of material
misstatement (whether or not due to fraud] that we identified. These key awdit matters were addressed in the
context of eur audit of the finandal staterments as a whale, and in forming our eginion thereon, and we do naot
provide a separate oginion on these mattars.

I fi 's parent enlity and amount dus from a

i ' subsidl

The Company has a recefvable from its parent, DAN Europe Foundation (the "parent entity™], with a carrying
amount of EURLS million as at 31 Decermber 2033, The receivable frar its parent entity (s material to the
Compary and aceounts for 93 of tatal asats &5 at financial year end.

Smlorre Audit Limisd s lmibed inbikly compary rigrbaried in Bats wetl régtsnensd gffce at Detostie Place, Trsg L-bniornjati; Ceraoal Dieamesy: Datrict, CA0
300, Fnkn Dwlodits Aud& Limvtad formn part of Balodrie Wabs. Dakeette b s oo bils of §] Dot & Sl sartneishioragalined i harmt of she byas of Fdska
e ubeg Betwesen limdied by companien, cpsrsting st Delcitie Macr, Teg Ldntomjetior, 2one 3, Cenbral Suibres Cisty L Belercnia CHOF 3050 Matve snd J1)
tha @ffiRalEe opes arie Bntiiee Dabnie Adwsory prd Technology Limibed (CZ0807], Dwlpithe Audit Limites! (51315 Deicéze Corparale Serd i Limbed

MoEE TE) ene Daloittn Tece Seraces Lemtad 51530, ol breited Dabibry companies rogibemd in Wiatn st egiciered oilcec ot Deloitis Placs, Trig L-inkzmptar,
fone 1, Cenal Beammn: Diitrct, Srbvkers £ 0 3056, Mala. Delaftle Corporane Servioes Lreited §s guisariied 10 act 94 ¢ Company Serdce Prouds by e Maita
Enareisl Servicen Jpthor iy, Delnitte AudE Limibad e suthasiud bo orovide s sevices n Malli in berms al the Sooguntancy Profeson & Dakibe Walts noan
Myl Dby i e Gurevl Mg rerranean 5o, acamrpany Emked by puasnses regisieras n llaky wils epstame susbher $89 580085 2 ared 15 regarored oMine
Al W Terioneno 15, 100, Wikes, fraly, Foo Sirther decals, ghease Wt wwe delote. comgmiyfasa sk
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|adkepadant anifaes DTTL Delodite RSE LLP g Delnithe Cenasl Medibmrran pan Sr L dosol srawde oefecm U6 cionty Plekis sl s SoisDe coen ol b
lemn mare abioul oot ol networll ol migrnbeer B
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Deloitte.

Independent auditor’s report (continued)
ta the mambers of
IDA Insurance Limitad

Key Audit Matters |oontinued)

The Company also has recelvable from (s subsidiary amounting to EURLS million and an Investment In
subsidiary amgunting to EURT31,836, net of provision far imgairment arnounting to EURZ6S, 164 as at

31 Decemnber 2023. The impairment assessmant of the Company's receivable fram its subsidiary and the
investment in subsidiary also depends on the recoverability of the recelvable from the parent entity in the
subsidiary's books with a carrylng amount of EURL.6G millisn as a1 31 December 2023,

As gt 31 December 2023, the parent éntity does not have sufficient Bguidity to settle these recevables.

Tha recoverahility of the recaivablas [s dependant on the future peofitability of the Compary and its subsidiary
to allow dividend distributions to the parent antity which shall be usad to reduce the outstanding amaunts.
Furthermaore, the parent entity’s founders have provided a commitment to inject EURG00,000 to tha parent

entity which amount shall ke used by the parent entity topartly repay the amount payabla to the Company
should the need arise.

Comiequantly, the Company's imgalrment assessments are dependent on the future ability of the Company
and its subsidiany to generate sufficient dividend distributions to reduce the Comgany’s and its subsidiary™s
recelvailes from the parent entity. The impairment assessments were significant to aur audit given the
quantitative significance of the amounts receivable from the parent entity, and also because the impairment
assessrnent relies heavily on forecasting the future financial perfarmance of the Company, its subsidiary and
the parent entity, which inherently invelves judgement and uncertalnty.

Owr audit approach induded:

= Aszessing the Company's Impalrment assesements of the amounts due from the parent entity and amount
due frorm and investmant in subsidiary for reasonability, mathematical aceuracy and consistency;

= Evalsating and challenging the key assumptions applied by the Company which are impacting future
profitabiity af the Campany and its subsidiary,

®  Evaluating and challenging the key assumations applied by the Company in relation to the cessation of tha
parent entity's need for further borrowing from the Company and its subsidiary;

®  Acgessing management’s capahbility in forecasting thraugh a reétrospective review of actual parformance in
the pastyear against previous forecasts;

» Performing densitivity analyses to changes in the key inputs to the future projections, particularly on
forecasted revenue and expenses;

#  Obtzining evidence of commitment by the Company and the parent antity of the intention to use futura
dvidend distributions to sebibe the amounts receivabbe;

* Inspecting agreements between the parent entity's foundars, the parent entity and the Campany, ralating
to the founders” commitrment to inject EURGD0,000 ta the parent entity which amaunt shall be used by
the parent entity 1o partly repay the amount payaie to the Cosmpany should the need arise, as well as
obtzining evidence afl the financial ability of the founders to provide such funds;

= Reviewing the appropriateness of the disclosures In the financial statements in connection with the
Impairmant Bssessments,

As disclosed in nptes 5.2, 18 and 23 to the financial statements, the key assumptions apalied by the Campany
in the projections refate to ferecasted growth in future revenue and decreases in costs arising from significant
cost-cutting measures. The recoverability of the receivables from the parant entity is heavily dependent an the
Company, its subsidiary and the parent entity achieving the projoctions based on these key assumptions. Such
projections may be affected by future market or econemie conditions,

ES
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Independent auditor’s report (continued)
to the members of
04 Insurance Limitad

Eey Audit Matters {continued)

The disdiosures in the finanoal statements relevant to the above are considered o be of fundamental
importance in understending the financial statements and, in particular, the estimation uncertainties that
exist, which could materialty impact the recoverability of the amaunts receivable from the parent entity.

Adoption of IFRS 17 ‘Insurance Cortracts’

On 1 January 2023, the Cornpany adopted IFRS 17 'Insurance Contracts’, replacing IFRS 4 "Insurance Contracts',
The adoption of IFRS 17 was applied ratrospectively, resulting in a restated opening balance sheat as at
1 January 2022 and restated comparatives as at 31 Decembar 2002,

IFRS 17 establishes the principles for tha racognition, measuramant, presentation and disclosure of insuranca
contracts, which are significantly diffarent to those required under IFRS 4. The implementation of IFRS 17
reguired significant management judgerment in its application to the Company™s policies.

Key prdgements and estimates in relation o the adopton of IFRS 17 include:

#  The judgements immoived in the determination of the measuremant model to apply ender IFRS 17, in
particular, management's use of the Premium Allocation Approach |'PAA') measurement made| for
groups of contracts that are not automatically eligible,

# The methodology and assumptions applied in caloubating the insurance contract liabilities, including
the risk adjustment and the discount rates;

= The appropriateness of methodologies, assumptions and significant judgerments applied in the
calculation of relavant insurance transactions and balances.

Cwr audit appraach included the following. with imaleemeant from our internal actuanial specialists;

«  Evaluating the appropristeness of key technical accounting decisions, judgemants and assurnptions
made by the Company in their application of the requirements of IFAS 17, including the Premiem
Allocation Approach ellgibility test as wall as the methodolegy sslacted in arriving at the discaunting
and risk adjustmant;

«  Performing procedurss toassess the Compgany’s implermentation of the defined methodalogy and
IFRS 17 calcutation models;

= Testing the completeness and accuracy of the data and other information reguired far IFRS 17
calculations; and

s  Evaluating the disclosures a5 required by IFRE 17 including those relating to the transition impact and
recomciled the disclosures to underlying accounting records and supporting data.

The Company’s disclosures about the adoption of IFRS 17 are disclosed in notes 3, 4, 5 and 11 1o the financial
statements,

fi5 ab 31 Decermnber 2023, the Company's Habiity for incurred claims comarlsed an estimate of the present
value of future cash flows and 3 risk adjustrment fior non-financial risk amounting to ELIR2 981 and EURT AR,
raspectivaly. Thae ability for incurred clairms is material bo the Company which is equivalent to 63% of the
Cormpany’s tetal liabilitias a5 ar 31 December 2023,

As described in the notes bo the financial statements, the fulfilment cash flows incorporate, In an unbiased
way, all reasonable and supportable information available without undus cost or eflort about the amount,
timing and uncertainty of those future cash fiows, they reflect curmant estimates from the perspective of the
Company and include an'explict adjustment for non-financial risk. The estimarion of labillty for incurred
claims is an inherently complex area and requires a significant amount of judgement,
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Independent auditor’s report (continued)

to the members ot
10 Insurance Lirmiosed

Key Audit Matters (continued)
Our audit epproach included:

® Evaluating the design of kay controls over the Company's claim reserving process and their determined
implementation;

* Reviewing a selection of dlaims outstanding to determine the ressonableness of assumptions made and
consistency In the meathodalagy used;
Making an assessment of the Company's actuany’s competance, capabilities and objectivity;
Teating the complateness and accuracy of the data provided to the sctuary for the purpose of
datarmining the [Labifity lar incurred claims;

® With the invabeement of sur internal sctuarial specialists, reviewing and challenging the reasorableness
of the assumptions snd methodologies adopbed by the Company's actuzny for the liability for incurred
ckaims as well as the method wsed to estimate the dBesunt rates and risk adjustment for non-financial
reak;
Analysing the loss ratios and daims developmant by elass af business;
Assassing the adequacy of disclosures made in the financial statermants in relation to the lizbility for
incurred claims.

The Company’s disclosures abaut the liability for incurred claims are disclosed in notes 4, 5 and 21 to the
financial statements,

Information Other than the Financial Statements and the Auditor's Report Thereon

The dirgchars are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Company
Infermation on page 2, the directars’ report, on pages 3 to &, but does not indude the financial staterments and
our auditor’s repart thereon.

Except for our opinion on the Direckors’ Report in accordance with the Comparies Act |Cap. 286], aur opinion
on the financial statemants deas not caver the other infermation snd we do not express any ferm af assurance
conclusion therean

In connectian with eur sudit of the financial statements, our rasponsibility i to read the other information
and, in doing 5o, consider whether the ather information is matenally inconsistant with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to ba materizlly misstated. i based
an e work we have performied, we conchade that there is 3 material misstatement of this ather information,
we are reguired to report that fact. We have nothing to regort in this regard.

With respect to the Directors’ Report, we also considered whether the Directors' Report indludes the
disclosure reguirements of Articke 177 of the Companies Act {Cap, 384).

In accordance with the regulrernvents of sub-article 179(3) of the Companies Act [Cap, 3BE] in relation to the

Directors’ Repert on pages 3 to 6, in our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

= The information given in tha Direckors’ Report for the finandal year for which the financial statements are
pregarad it congistent with the financial statemeants; and

#  The Directars’ Report has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal raquirements.

In the light of the knowladge and understanding of the company and its emaronment obtained In the cowrse of
the audit, we have not identified any materizl misstatements in the Directars’ Report

L)
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Independent auditor’s report (continued)
to the members of
1D mgurance Limited

Responsibilittes of the Directers for the Financial Statements

A5 explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ responsibilities an page 6, the directors are responsible
far the preparation of financial statements that give a true and falr view in accordance with IFRSs a3 adopted
by the EU and the requirements of tha Act |Cap. 286} and for such internal control as the directors determine
is nacazzary to enable the preparation of financial atatements that are frés from material misstatement,
whether due to frawud ar error

In preparing the financizl statements, the directars are respansible for assessing the Company's ability to
continue 35 3 going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the gaing
cancérn basis of accounting unbess the directors’ either intend to liquidate the Campany or to cessa
operations, or have na realistic siternative but to do so.

Auditar's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
This repart, including the opinigns set out herein, has been prepared for the Company's members as a body In
accordance with articles 179, 1798 and 1798 of the Companies Act (Cap, 386),

Our objectives arg to obtain reasenable assurance about whether the financkal statements as & whole are fres
from matesial misstaternent, whether due to fraud or errer, and to isswe an awditor's report that includes our
opinipns in accordance with artices 1791744 and 17498 of the Companies Act [Cap. 3BE|. Reasonabls
sssurance is a high leval of assurance, but is not a guarantes that an audit conducted In accardanee with 1545
will abways detect 3 material misstatemant when it exists, Misstaterments can arise from fraud or error and are
considerad material IF, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonabiy be expected to influence the
economic dacisions of users takan on the bass of these financial statements.

In terms of article 1794(4) of the Companies Act (Cap. ZRE), the scope of our audit doas not include assurance
on the future viabifity of the Company or an the efficeency or effectivenass with which the directoes have
cenducted or will conduct the affass of the Company, The financial position of the Company may Imprave,
deteriorate, or ctherwise be subject to change & 8 consequence of decisions taken, or to be taken, by the
management thereaf, or may be impacted by events occurding afier the date of this opinkan, including, but naot
limited to, events of force majeure,

Az such, our audit repart on the Campany’s histarical financinl staternents iz not intended to facilitate or
anable, nor is it suitable for, rellance by any persan, in the creation of amy projections ar pradictions, with
respect to the future financial health and viability of the Company, and cannot therefore be utdised or ralied
upon for the purpose of deciions regarding investmant in, o atharwise dealing with [including but not imited
to the extension of credit], the Company. Any declsion-making in this respest should be farmulated an the
basis of a separate analysis, specifically intended to evaluate the prospects of the Company and to identify any
facts or circumstances that may be materially relevant therete

A5 part of an audit in accordance with F5As, we exarcise professional Judpment and maintain prafessional
scepticsm throughout the audit, We also;

® ldentify and asiess the fisks of material msstatemeant of the finanos statements, wiether due to fraud or
error, design and perform awdit precedures responsive 1o those risks, and obtain sudit evidence that is
sufficient and approgsiate to provide a basts for owr opinkon. The risk of not detecting & material
misstatement resulting irom fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may Involve
collusian, forgery, intentional smissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control,

#  DObtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design awdit procedures that
are apgropriate in the creumstances, but not for the purpase of espressing an opinion on the
etfactiveness of the Company's Internal cantrol,

1]
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Independent auditor’s report (continued)
o the mambers of
DA Insurance Limited

Auditor's Responsibifities for the Audit of the Financkal Statements {continwed])

®  Evaluate the approgriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and refated disclosures made by the directors.

= Conclude on the approgelatensass of the directors’ use of the poing concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidenco abtained, whether a materiad uncertainty exists related to events o conditions that
miay cast significant doubt o the Company's abifity to continue as a gaing congam. H we conclude that a
rmateral uncertainty exists, we are reguired to draw attention in our auditer's repart to the related
discipsures in tha financial staterments or, if such disclesures are inadequats, ta modify our agénian. Ouwr
condlusions are basad an the sudit evidence obtained up to the date of pur auditor's report. However,
future svents or eaaditiond may cadse the Company to cease to continue as a going concarn, Accardingly,
in terrms of generally accepted auditing standards, the absanoe of sy referencs to a material unsertainty
about the Company™s abifity to continue as a going concem in our auditor's report should not be viewed
a5 b guarantes as to the Company’s abifity to confinwes a5 3 going concarn

& Evaluate the overall presentation, structere and content of the financial statements, including the
dischosures, and whather the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events ina
mianner that achieves fair presentation.

Far the avosdance of doubt, any conclusions concerming the adequacy af the capital structure of the Company,
including the fermulation of & view &s to the manner In which financlal risk s distributed between
shareholders andfor creditors cannot be reachad on the basis of these financia! statements alone and must
necessarily be based on b broader analysis supparted by additional information,

W communicate with the directars regarding, amang other matters, the planned scope end timing of the
sudit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We alsg provide the directors with a statemant that we have complied with ralevant athical requirements
regarding Independenca, and 1o communicate with them all relationahips and other matters that may
reasonably e thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determing thede matlers thal were of maost
significance in the audit of the financlal statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
miatters, We describe these mattars in our swdibor™s report Gnless law or regulation precludes public disclosere
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter shoudd not be
communicated im our report because the adverse consequeances of doing so would reasenably be expected to
cutweigh the public interest benefits of such cormmunication,
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independent auditor’s report (continued)
to the mernbers of
FDW bnswrance Limited

Report on Other Legol ond Reguiatory Requirements
Matters on which we are required to report by exception under the Companies Act

Under the Companies Ac [Cap. 388), we have resporsibilities to report to you it i our oplnion:

Proper accounting recards hava not been kept;

Proper returns adequate for our sudit have not been recelved from branches not visited by us;

The financial statements are not In agreemant with the aceounting records and returns; or

« We have bean unable to abtain all the information and explanations which, to the best of our knowledge
and belief, are necessary for the purpose of our audit.

4 = m

We have pothing to repart to you in respect of these responsibilites.
Auditor tenure

We were first appainted to act a4 statutory auditor of the Company, fallowing the Company being licensed to
act as 3 genaral business insurer an 24 October 2007, by the members of the Company on 20 January 2005 for
the financial year ended 30 June 2009, and were subsequently reappointed as statutory auditors by the
mermbers of the Company on an annwal basis. The periaod of total uninterrupted engagement as statutary
auditor since the Company Became & public interest entity including previous reappointments of the firm
covers financial perieds totalling 16 years and & months.

Consistency of the audit report with the additional report to the Baard of Diractors

Qur audit epinion |s consistent with the additional report to the Board of Directors in accordance with the
provisions of Article 11 of EU Regulation No. 53772014,

Tha audit repart was drawn up on 7 BMay 2024 and signed by
g |
- T
d._-_'rf"r ';.;_.-". ‘,ll

hiark Giongio &% Director

in the name and on behalf of

Deloitte Audit mited

Registered auditor

Contral Business District, Birkirkara, Malta
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